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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
For the year ended 30 June 2017 

The Directors present their report together with the consolidated financial statements of the Group comprising 

of Pilbara Minerals Limited (“Pilbara Minerals or the Company”) and its subsidiaries for the financial year 

ended 30 June 2017 and the auditor’s report thereon.  The Directors’ report and consolidated financial 

statements are presented in Australian dollars, except where otherwise indicated. 

DIRECTORS 

The Directors of the Company at any time during or since the end of the financial year are:  
 

Name, qualifications and 

independence status 
Experience, special responsibilities and other directorships 

Mr Anthony Kiernan 

LLB 

Chairman and 

Independent Non-

Executive Director 

Appointed 1 July 2016 

Mr Anthony (Tony) Kiernan is an experienced public company director and former 

commercial solicitor who has extensive experience in the management and operation of 

listed public companies. Mr Kiernan is a member of the Audit and Risk Committee and 

the Remuneration and Nomination Committee.  

Mr Kiernan is also Chairman of the Fiona Wood Foundation. 

Other current directorships: Mr Kiernan is a director of the following entities, which 

are listed on the Australian Securities Exchange: 

• Chalice Gold Mines Limited (since 2007) – Chairman.  

• Venturex Resources Limited (since 2010) – Chairman. 

Former directorships in the last three years: BC Iron Limited (2006 to 7 December 

2016) and Danakali Limited (2013 to 6 February 2017). 

Mr Ken Brinsden 

BEng (Mining), MAusIMM, 

MAICD 

Chief Executive Officer 

and Managing Director 

Appointed 4 May 2016 

Mr Brinsden is a mining engineer with over 22 years’ experience in surface and 

underground mining operations. Since graduation from the Western Australian School 

of Mines, Mr Brinsden has worked for major mining companies including WMC 

Resources Limited, Normandy Mining Ltd, Central Norseman Gold Corporation, Iluka 

Resources Limited, Gold Fields Limited and more recently Atlas Iron Limited. 

Mr Brinsden joined Atlas Iron Limited in May 2006 as Operations Manager and held the 

roles of Chief Operating Officer and Chief Development Officer before being appointed 

as its Managing Director in 2012. 

Mr Brinsden was appointed as Chief Executive Officer of the Company in January 2016 

and subsequently appointed to the Board as Managing Director effective from 4 May 

2016.  

Other current directorships: None.  

Former directorships in the last three years: Atlas Iron Limited (22 February 2012 to 

27 April 2016). 
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Name, qualifications and 

independence status 
Experience, special responsibilities and other directorships 

Mr Steve Scudamore 

FCA, MA (Oxon), FAICD, SF 

Fin 

Independent Non-

Executive Director 

Appointed 18 July 2016 

Mr Steve Scudamore is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants, England, 

Wales and Australia (FCA), a Fellow of the Institute of Company Directors (FAICD) and a 

Senior Fellow of the Financial Services Institute of Australia (SF Fin). 

Mr Scudamore’s career includes 28 years as a partner at KPMG, where he served as a 

member of KPMG’s Global Energy and Natural Resources Group, KPMG’s Australian 

Corporate Finance Executive and Board, and Chairman of Partners in Western Australia. 

Mr Scudamore is Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee and is a member of the 

Remuneration and Nomination Committee. 

Mr Scudamore is also Chairman of MDA Insurance Pty Ltd, and holds board positions on 

industry, government and community boards, including as a Trustee of the Western 

Australian Museum, Chairman of Amana Living Incorporated (formerly Anglican Homes) 

and a member of Council at Curtin University. Mr Scudamore is also a senior advisor to 

Lazard Australia. 

Other current directorships: Non-Executive Director of Altona Mining Limited (since 

2013) and Non-Executive Director of Australis Oil & Gas (since November 2016). 

Former directorships in the last three years: Aquila Resources Pty Ltd (10 December 

2012 to 7 June 2016). 

Mr John Young 

BAppSc (Geology), Grad 

Dip – Technology 

Management, MAusIMM 

Executive Director 

4 September 2015 to 31 

July 2017 

Non-Executive Director 

Appointed 1 August 2017 

 

Mr John Young is a geologist having been engaged on exploration and production 

projects encompassing gold, uranium and specialty metals. From 2002 to 2006, Mr 

Young was Exploration Manager for Haddington Resources Limited and was responsible 

for resource exploration and resource definition for their Bald Hill Tantalum mine. Mr 

Young’s corporate experience has included appointments as Chief Executive Officer of 

Marenica Energy Limited and Chief Executive Officer and Director of Thor Mining PLC. 

Mr Young has been responsible for exploration and evaluation for both the Pilgangoora 

and Tabba Tabba projects since their acquisition by the Company.  

Other current directorships: Mosman Oil and Gas Limited; Spitfire Materials Limited 

(from 29 June 2017). 

Former directorships in the last three years: None. 

Mr Nicholas Cernotta 

B. Eng (Mining) 

Independent 

Non-Executive Director 

Appointed 6 February 2017 

Mr Nicholas Cernotta has more than 30 years’ experience in the mining industry, 

spanning various commodities and operations in Australia, Africa, South East and 

Central Asia, Saudi Arabia and Papua New Guinea. He holds a Bachelor of Mining 

Engineering and has held senior executive roles with extensive operational experience in 

both the public and private sectors of the mineral resources industry. Previous roles Mr 

Cernotta has held include Director of Operations at Fortescue Metals Group Ltd, Chief 

Operating Officer at MacMahon Contracting and Director of Operation at Barrick Gold. 

Mr Cernotta is a member of the Audit and Risk Committee and is Chairman of the 

Remuneration and Nomination Committee.  

Other current directorships: Non-Executive Chairman of ServTech Global (since 

October 2016). 

Former directorships in the last three years: None 

Mr Robert Adamson 

BSc, MSc (Hons), 

MAusIMM, CP (Geo), 

MAIMVA (CMV), MMICA 

Independent 

Non-Executive Director 

1 July 2010 to 21 February 

2017 

 

Mr Adamson acted in the capacity of Non-Executive Director and was a member of the 

Audit and Risk Committee and Remuneration and Nomination Committee until his 

retirement as a Director on 21 February 2017.  

Former directorships in the last three years: None. 
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Name, qualifications and 

independence status 
Experience, special responsibilities and other directorships 

Mr Neil Biddle 

BAppSc (Geology), 

MAusIMM 

Executive Director 

30 May 2013 to 19 August 

2016 

Non-Executive Director 

20 August 2016 to 26 July 

2017 

Mr Neil Biddle is a geologist and Corporate Member of the Australasian Institute of 

Mining and Metallurgy. He has over 30 years professional and management experience 

in the exploration and mining industry and since 1987 has served on the Board of 

several ASX listed companies. Mr Biddle was Managing Director of TNG Ltd from 1998 

to 2007, Border Gold NL from 1994 to 1998, and Consolidated Victorian Mines from 

1991 to 1994. 

Other current directorships: Spitfire Materials Limited (from 29 June 2017). 

Former directorships in the last three years: Arunta Resources Limited (4 April 2013 

to 8 April 2015). 

Mr Tony Liebowitz retired as a director effective 1 July 2016. 

COMPANY SECRETARY 

Mr Alex Eastwood, B. Economics; LLB  

Mr Eastwood was appointed Company Secretary on 1 September 2016 and has more than 20 years’ experience 

as a commercial lawyer, company secretary and corporate finance executive. Mr Eastwood has previously held 

partnerships with two international law firms, and has extensive experience as an executive director in the 

corporate finance area. Mr Eastwood has also held a number of senior corporate positions with ASX-listed 

companies including as General Counsel and Company Secretary with Gryphon Minerals Ltd and General 

Counsel with Imdex Limited.  

Mr Alan Boys, B. Com, CA (resigned 31 August 2016) 

Mr Boys was Company Secretary from 23 October 2014 until his date of resignation on 31 August 2016. He 

acted as an Alternate Director for Mr Biddle from 20 August 2016 until 23 September 2016.  
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DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS 

The number of board and committee meetings attended by each Director of the Company during the financial 

year are: 
 

 

 

Number of Meetings 

 

Director 

Board Meetings 
Audit and Risk 

Committee 

Remuneration and Nomination 

Committee 

15 5 3 

Attended 
Eligible to 

attend 
Attended 

Eligible 

to attend 
Attended 

Eligible to 

attend 

Mr Anthony Kiernan 15 15 5 5 3 3 

Mr Robert Adamson* 10 11 4 5 - 2 

Mr Ken Brinsden 15 15 - - - - 

Mr Neil Biddle** 12 15 - - - - 

Mr John Young 14 15 - - - - 

Mr Steve Scudamore*** 14 14 5 5 3 3 

Mr Nicholas Cernotta**** 6 6 1 1 1 1 

* Mr Adamson retired as a Non-Executive Director effective 21 February 2017.  

** Mr Biddle retired as a Non-Executive Director on 26 July 2017. 

*** Mr Scudamore was appointed as a Non-Executive Director on 18 July 2016. 

**** Mr Cernotta was appointed as a Non-Executive Director on 6 February 2017.  

Mr Tony Liebowitz retired as a director effective 1 July 2016. 

During the year, the Company established a separate Audit and Risk Committee and reconstituted the 

Remuneration and Nomination Committee. Both committees consist solely of non-executive directors. In the 

prior year, the full board acted in the capacity of both the Audit and Risk Committee and Remuneration and 

Nomination Committee. 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

The principal activities of the Group during the year were the exploration and development of mineral 

resources, being the Pilgangoora Project. There were no significant changes in the nature of the activities of 

the Group during the year. 

Objectives 

The Group’s objectives are to: 

• develop and mine the world class lithium-tantalum deposit at the 100% owned Pilgangoora Project 

(“Project”) located in the Pilbara region of Western Australia; 

• continue to conduct exploration activities at the Project to increase the existing JORC resource and reserve; 

and 

• consider participation in downstream chemical processing opportunities to leverage the quality of the 

Project. 

In order to meet these objectives, the following targets have been set for the 2018 financial year and beyond: 

• target Project commissioning in the third quarter of the 2018 financial year; 

• first product on ship in the fourth quarter of the 2018 financial year;  

• undertake and complete the Definitive Feasibility Study (“DFS”) for the 5 million tonnes per annum (“Mtpa”) 

expansion case; and 

• develop partnerships with key lithium chemicals industry groups to assess participation in downstream 

chemical processing opportunities. 
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OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW 

Review of Operations 

During the year, the Company completed the Pilgangoora Lithium-Tantalum Project DFS which confirmed the 

technical and financial viability of a standalone 2 Mtpa mining and on-site processing operation. The Company 

also completed a 4 Mtpa Prefeasibility Study (“PFS”) to assess the option for a future expansion of the 

Pilgangoora Project.  

In addition, the Company successfully secured funding commitments comprising both debt in the form of a 

conditional senior secured bond facility (US$100 million) and equity ($95 million) to ensure the Pilgangoora 

Project was fully funded.  This led to the final investment decision by the Board in June 2017 to develop the 

Project. 

During the year, the Company announced a substantial increase in proved and probable JORC ore reserves for 

the Pilgangoora Lithium-Tantalite Project following various drilling programs. 

The Company also acquired the Lynas Find Lithium Project from Novo Litio Ltd (formerly Dakota Minerals 

Limited) (adjoining the Pilgangoora Project) and entered into a farm-out and joint venture with Atlas Iron 

Limited to acquire an initial 51% interest in the Mount Francisco Lithium-Tantalum Project with the right to 

undertake exploration and definitive feasibility studies to earn up to an 80% interest. 

The Tabba Tabba Tantalum Project site was closed during the year.  The remainder of the Tabba Tabba site 

was rehabilitated during the fourth quarter of the 2017 financial year in accordance with mine closure 

obligations.   

Review of Principal Business 

Pilgangoora Lithium-Tantalum Project 

The 100% owned Pilgangoora Lithium-Tantalum Project is 120 kilometres southeast of Port Hedland in Western 

Australia. Since acquiring Pilgangoora in mid-2014, the Company has made significant progress in identifying 

and increasing the size of the resource and reserve as well as further developing an understanding of the 

metallurgy of the deposit.  

During the September 2016 quarter, the Company completed the DFS on the Project. The DFS confirmed the 

technical and financial viability of a 2 Mtpa standalone mining and processing operation over an initial 36-year 

mine life based on an initial maiden Ore Reserve of 69.8 Mt @ 1.26% Li2O, Ta2O5 ppm Ta2O5 and 1.04% Fe2O3.  

Key financial outcomes included: 

• Project post-tax NPV10% of $709 million and IRR of 38.1% (DFS Reserve basis); 

• Expected payback of approximately 2.7 years; 

• Project capital estimate of $224 million +/-15% (subsequently updated to $234 million on 12 May 2017); 

and 

• Life-of-mine operating cash costs of US$207/tonne of spodumene concentrate Cost and Freight (“CFR”) 

(excluding royalties and native title costs). 

In September 2016, the Company announced the results of a separate PFS for a potential future expanded 

4 Mtpa production option for the Pilgangoora Project. The PFS assumed processing capacity at the Pilgangoora 

Project would be doubled to 4 Mtpa from year three of the Project. Results from the 4 Mtpa PFS returned a 

Project post-tax NPV10% of $1.17 billion and a post-tax internal rate of return of 46.3%. 

During the year ending 30 June 2017, the Company delivered a significant increase in the Ore Reserve estimate 

for the Pilgangoora Project, further strengthening its ability to increase production beyond the 2 Mtpa Stage 

1.  
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The expanded Ore Reserve of 80.3 Mt @ 1.27% Li2O, 123 ppm Ta2O5 and 1.08% Fe2O3 is based on the 

upgraded Mineral Resource announced in January 2017 of 156.3 Mt @ 1.25% Li2O containing an estimated 

1.95 Mt of Li2O.  

The upgraded Ore Reserve, which represents an approximate 15% increase on the Ore Reserve announced in 

the previous financial year, incorporates additional drilling completed since the DFS released in September 

2016.  

Detail of the Ore Reserve announced in June 2017 are shown in the table below: 
 

Category Tonnage (Mt) Li2O (%) Ta2O5 (ppm) Fe2O3 (%) Li2O (t) Ta2O5 (Mlbs) 

Proved 17.3 1.30 141 1.03 230,000 5.4 

Probable 62.9 1.25 119 1.10 790,000 16.5 

Total 80.3 1.27 123 1.08 1,020,000 21.8 

Following completion of the DFS, the Company swiftly moved the Project to pre-execution activities ahead of 

reaching a Final Investment Decision (“FID”) which included: 

• award of the integrated project management consultancy to assist in management and delivery of the 

Project; 

• completion of a competitive ECI (Early Contractor Involvement) process for the selection of the process 

plant Engineering, Procurement and Construction Contractor; 

• award of long lead procurement items for the process plant in continued efforts to maintain the project 

delivery schedule; 

• purchase of an existing 300-man accommodation facility, de-construction and relocation to the Project site; 

• securing of mining proposal and all other necessary ground disturbance related approvals; 

• commencement of initial camp construction and establishment of the project site; 

• obtained all necessary environmental and regulatory approvals; and  

• process plant Front End Engineering and Design activities. 

The Board of the Company made a FID on 23 June 2017, paving the way for the continued development of the 

Project during the 2018 financial year. 

Tabba Tabba Tantalum Project 

The Tabba Tabba Tantalum Project was officially closed during the reporting year, with site closure activities 

completed in late June 2017. Formal acceptance from the Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety 

(formerly Department of Mines and Petroleum) is expected in the first quarter of the 2018 financial year. 

Subsequent to the year end, the Company entered into a binding agreement to sell the plant to Tungsten 

Mining NL. 

Corporate Review 

During the year, the Company signed a six-year offtake agreement with General Lithium Corporation of China 

(“General Lithium”) to supply 140,000 tpa of 6% chemical-grade spodumene concentrate, subject to certain 

conditions precedent. General Lithium has the option to extend the offtake agreement for a further four years 

with committed annual tonnages to be agreed by the parties. In addition to the offtake commitments, General 

Lithium also agreed to invest $17.75 million into Pilbara Minerals via an equity placement for 35.5 million fully-

paid Pilbara Minerals shares at an issue price of 50 cents per share. Settlement of the equity placement is 

subject to General Lithium obtaining all relevant regulatory approvals in China by no later than 30 September 

2017. Further, the offtake agreement includes a binding commitment with General Lithium to evaluate joint 

venture opportunities outside of China to establish downstream processing plants for the production of lithium 

carbonate and/or lithium hydroxide, consistent with Pilbara Minerals’ longer-term strategy of producing value-
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added materials to enable the Group to potentially move up the lithium value chain in the future, diversifying 

and enhancing its product offerings. A further 2% equity placement is required to be offered to General Lithium 

in the event a formal investment decision is made to proceed with the development of a lithium chemicals 

facility.  

The Company also signed a 10-year offtake agreement for 6% chemical grade spodumene with China’s largest 

integrated lithium producer, Ganfeng Lithium and its subsidiary GFL International Co. Limited, subject to certain 

conditions precedent including the completion of a US$20 million equity placement to Ganfeng Lithium, which 

has been completed in June 2017. The agreement is for the supply of 160,000 tpa of 6% chemical grade 

spodumene concentrate (with agreed specifications) with the ability for Ganfeng Lithium to extend the 

agreement for a further 10 years through two five-year options. In addition, subject to a decision to develop 

the expanded 4 Mtpa Stage 2 case at Pilgangoora Project, Pilbara Minerals and Ganfeng Lithium have agreed 

to enter into an additional offtake agreement to supply Ganfeng Lithium with at least 25% of the expanded 

Stage 2 production of chemical grade spodumene concentrate and up to 50% of this additional production, 

contingent on a funding commitment of not less than $65 million for Stage 2 being provided by Ganfeng 

Lithium (total of up to 150,000 tpa of Stage 2 expanded production). 

On 5 October 2016, the Company entered into an agreement with Novo Litio Ltd to acquire the Lynas Find 

Lithium Project which adjoins the Pilgangoora Project. The terms of the acquisition included a $5 million 

payment for the acquisition of the core tenements, with further payments of $750,000 each for four additional 

exploration tenements to be made to Novo Litio Ltd upon transfer of tenements to Pilbara Minerals.  This 

acquisition has now been completed. 

On 25 October 2016, the Company agreed to issue 104,166,167 shares to Mineral Resources Limited at an issue 

price of 48 cents per share (representing a total value of $50 million), in exchange for the Company acquiring 

the 2.5% net smelter royalty in relation to the Pilgangoora Project and the permanent extinguishment of a right 

of first refusal to purchase lithium products produced from the Project.  

During the March 2017 quarter, the Company entered into a binding farm-out and joint venture agreement 

with Atlas Iron Limited to acquire an initial 51% interest in the Mt Francisco Lithium-Tantalum Project for 

$2.3 million. Pilbara Minerals may spend a further $1 million on exploration in the first 12 months to increase 

its interest in the project to 70%, following which the Company may earn an additional 10% upon completion 

of a definitive feasibility study and decision to mine. The Mt Francisco tenement is located 50 kilometres 

southwest of the Company’s flagship Pilgangoora Lithium-Tantalum Project, and hosts the last remaining large 

occurrence of outcropping pegmatites located in close proximity to Port Hedland.  

During June and July 2017, the Company undertook an equity raising and bond issue to complete the funding 

required to develop the Project.  

On 21 June 2017, the Company confirmed settlement of a US$100 million senior secured bond, with drawdown 

subject to customary closing conditions including security documentation with the bond trustee and 3rd party 

consents to create security interests. The bond has a coupon rate of 12%, is to be repaid by June 2022 and 

requires the net proceeds from the issue to be applied towards capital and development costs associated with 

the Pilgangoora Project. 

On 15 June 2017, the Company launched a $95 million equity raising at an issue price of 35 cents per ordinary 

share by way of: 

• Tranche 1 Placement component – issue of 189.9 million ordinary shares to raise $66.5 million. This 

component of the raising was settled on 26 June 2017. 

• Tranche 2 Placement component – issue of 38.7 million ordinary shares to raise $13.5 million. Following 

shareholder approval, this component of the raising settled on 2 August 2017. 

• Share Purchase Plan component – issue of 42.9 million ordinary shares to raise approximately $15 million. 

This component settled on 2 August 2017. 
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Review of Financial Conditions 

The consolidated loss for the year ended 30 June 2017 was $25.95 million (2016 loss: $55.61 million). Excluding 

the following non-cash items, the consolidated entity achieved an unaudited operating loss of $13.39 million 

(2016 loss: $15.90 million): 

• Non-cash share-based payment expenses of $12.42 million following the issue of options to directors, 

employees, consultants, service providers and convertible noteholders to preserve cash (2016: 

$26.56 million); and 

• Non-cash depreciation charges related to corporate assets $0.09 million (2016: $0.05 million); and 

• Other non-cash items of $0.05 million (2016: $13.10 million). 

The operating loss of $13.39 million includes exploration, evaluation and feasibility costs expensed of 

$9.74 million (2016: $10.56 million) associated mainly with the Pilgangoora Project. 

Share Placements and Issues 

During the financial year, the Company issued the following capital before costs: 
 

Date Number of shares Price per share ($) Amount issued ($’000) 

2 November 2016 104,166,667 $0.48 50,000 

27 June 2017 189,900,000 $0.35 66,465 

Options Issued 

During the financial year, the Company granted the following options: 
 

Option Grant date Exercise price Expiry date Vested 
Options unexercised 

at 30 June 2017 

4,000,000 08/08/2016 $0.63 08/09/2019 1,333,333a 4,000,000 

3,000,000 16/08/2016 $0.63 08/09/2019 1,000,000 a 3,000,000 

500,000 19/09/2016 $0.55 17/11/2019 -b 500,000 

500,000 07/11/2016 $0.55 07/11/2019 -b 500,000 

10,000,000 24/11/2016 $0.63 12/12/2019 3,333,333c 10,000,000 

a The vesting conditions attached to these unlisted options were: 

• 33.33% vest upon the delivery of a final DFS for the Pilgangoora Project to a standard acceptable to the Board; 

• 33.33% vest upon the funding required to develop the Pilgangoora Project being raised or procured based on parameters acceptable 

to the Board and a “decision to mine” being made by the Board in respect of the Pilgangoora Project; * 

• 33.33% vest upon the Pilgangoora Project mine development and plant construction being largely complete (both for civil works 

and mine establishment) and the process plant having achieved a nominal 85% of its design throughput capacity during 

production runs, at a saleable product specification; and 

• A continuing employment service condition at the time each milestone is achieved. 

b  The vesting conditions attached to these unlisted options were: 

• 50% vest upon the funding required to develop the Pilgangoora Project being raised or procured based on parameters acceptable to 

the Board and a “decision to mine” being made by the Board in respect of the Pilgangoora Project; 

• 50% vest upon the Pilgangoora Project mine development and plant construction being largely complete (both for civil works and 

mine establishment) and the process plant having achieved a nominal 85% of its design throughput capacity during production 

runs, at a saleable product specification; * and 

• A continuing employment service condition at the time each milestone is achieved. 

c  The vesting conditions attached to these unlisted options were: 

• 33.33% vest on the date of shareholder approval of the option grant; 

• 33.33% vest 12 months after the grant date; 

• 33.33% vest 24 months after the grant date; 

• A continuing employment service condition at the time each milestone is achieved. 

 * These options are expected to vest upon satisfaction of the pre-disbursement conditions precedent associated with the US$D 

secured bond facility. 

During the year, a total of $1.95 million was raised following the exercise of 24,420,832 unlisted options. 
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Significant Changes in the State of Affairs 

In the opinion of the Directors there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group that 

occurred during the financial year under review, except as already noted in this Directors’ Report. 

DIVIDENDS 

The Directors recommend that no dividend be declared or paid. 

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE 

At the Company’s general meeting on 26 July 2017, shareholders approved Tranche 2 of the share placement 

as detailed in the Company’s ASX announcements on 15 June and 19 June 2017 (38,671,430 shares at an issue 

price of 35 cents per share). On 2 August 2017, the Company received proceeds of $13,535,000 for Tranche 2 

of the share placement and $15,322,038 associated with the Company’s the Share Purchase Plan (43,777,251 

shares at 35 cents per share). Associated transaction costs of $1,032,000 were paid on settlement. 

On 21 July 2017, the Company agreed to sell the processing plant assets associated with the Tabba Tabba 

Tantalum Project to Tungsten Mining NL. The carrying value of the Tabba Tabba processing plant assets at 

30 June 2017 was $370,000. Consideration for the sale includes $300,000 in cash and $300,000 in shares of 

Tungsten Mining NL.  

On 15 August 2017, the Company completed settlement of the Novo Litio (formerly Dakota Minerals Limited) 

Lynas Find tenement acquisition following the grant and transfer of the four remaining tenements to Pilbara 

Minerals.  Total consideration of $3 million was paid via the issue of 7,577,671 ordinary fully shares in the 

Company at a share price of 39.59 cents. 

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS 

The Group will continue with development and construction of the Pilgangoora Lithium-Tantalum Project with 

a view to commissioning in the third quarter of the 2018 financial year. 

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION 

The Group’s operations are subject to significant environmental regulation under both Commonwealth and 

State legislation in Australia in relation to its mining, development and exploration activities. The Group is 

committed to achieving a high standard of environmental performance. Compliance with the requirements of 

environmental regulations and with specific requirements of site environmental licences was substantially 

achieved across all operations with no known instance of non-compliance noted. Based on the results of 

enquiries made, the Directors are not aware of any significant breaches during the period covered by this 

report. 

INTERESTS 

The relevant interest of each Director in the shares, rights or options over such instruments issued by the 

companies within the Group and other related bodies corporate, as notified by the Directors to the ASX in 

accordance with S205G(1) of the Corporations Act 2001, at the date of this report is as follows: 
 

Director 
Pilbara Minerals Limited 

Ordinary shares Options over ordinary shares 

Mr Ken Brinsden 869,565 15,000,000(i) 

Mr Anthony Kiernan 287,858 8,000,000 (ii) 

Mr Steve Scudamore 142,850 2,000,000 (ii) 

Mr John Young 18,701,213 5,000,000 

Mr Nicholas Cernotta 228,570 - 

(i)  Vesting conditions attached to these options are set out in footnote (a) to the “Options Issued” section above. 
(ii)  Vesting conditions attached to these options are set out in footnote (c) to the “Options Issued” section above. 



 

Page 13 of 56 

SHARE OPTIONS 

At the date of this report, unissued shares of the Group under option are:  
 

Expiry date Exercise price Number of options 

1 December 2017 $0.15 1,427,273 

16 May 2018 $0.40 37,500,000 

16 May 2018 * $0.40 800,000 

16 May 2018 $0.65 7,000,000 

16 May 2019a $0.40 30,500,000 

8 September 2019a $0.63 13,000,000 

7 November 2019b $0.55 500,000 

17 November 2019b $0.55 500,000 

12 December 2019c $0.63 10,000,000 

* The vesting conditions attached to this set of options were employees providing six months of continuous services to the Company. 
a  Vesting conditions attached to these options are set out in footnote (a) to the “Options Issued” section above. 
b  Vesting conditions attached to these options are set out in footnote (b) to the “Options Issued” section above. 
c  Vesting conditions attached to these options are set out in footnote (c) to the “Options Issued” section above. 

Unless stated, there are no other vesting conditions on options on issue. 

INDEMNIFICATION OF OFFICERS AND AUDITORS 

The Company has agreed to indemnify the following current and past directors and officers of the Company 

and its controlled entities against all liabilities to another person (other than the Company or a related body 

corporate) that may arise from their position as directors of the Company and its controlled entities, except 

where the liability arises out of conduct involving a lack of good faith. The agreement stipulates that the 

Company will meet the full amount of any such liabilities, including costs and expenses. 

The Company has not, during or since the financial period, indemnified or agreed to indemnify the auditor of 

the Company against a liability incurred as an auditor. 

INSURANCE PREMIUMS 

Since the end of the previous financial year, the Company has paid insurance premiums in respect of directors’ 

and officers’ liability and legal expenses insurance contracts for current and former directors, officers, and 

senior executives of the Company and its controlled entities. The contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of 

the nature of the liability and the amount of the premium. 

NON-AUDIT SERVICES 

KPMG held the position of interim auditor of the Group from 10 June 2016 following the resignation of Somes 

Cook. Their appointment was confirmed at the Annual General Meeting held on 24 November 2016. 

KPMG provided non-audit services of $7,455 in the financial year ended 30 June 2017. The Directors are 

satisfied that the provision of non-audit services is compatible with the general standard of independence for 

auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The Directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit 

services did not compromise the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 because 

none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 110 

Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants. 

LEAD AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 

The Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration is set out on page 23 and forms part of the Directors’ Report for 

the financial year ended 30 June 2017. 
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ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS 

The Group is of a kind referred to in ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 

2016/191 and in accordance with the Instrument, amounts in the consolidated financial statements and the 

Directors’ Report have been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise stated. 

REMUNERATION REPORT – AUDITED  

This Remuneration Report for the year ended 30 June 2017 outlines the director and executive remuneration 

arrangements of the Group in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) (“Act”) and 

its regulations. The Remuneration Report details the remuneration arrangements for Key Management 

Personnel (“KMP”) who are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing 

and controlling the major activities of the Group, directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive 

or otherwise). 

Principles of Compensation – audited 

The nature and amount of remuneration for an executive and non-executive director depends on the nature 

of the role and market rates for the position, which are determined with the assistance of external advisors 

(where necessary), surveys and reports, taking into account the experience and qualifications of each individual. 

During the year ended 30 June 2017, the Group did not use any external advisors. The Board ensures that the 

remuneration paid to KMP is relevant to market conditions and practices, demonstrating a correlation to KMP 

performance and creation of value for shareholders and balances the commercial interest of not paying 

excessive remuneration. Fees and payments to the Non-Executive Directors reflect the demands made, and the 

responsibilities placed on the Non-Executive Directors. Non-executive director fees and payments are reviewed 

annually by the Board. 

 

The following were KMP of the Group during the financial year and unless otherwise indicated were KMP for 

the entire financial year: 
 

Non-Executive Directors  Executive Directors Executives 

Mr Anthony Kiernan1 

Mr Tony Leibowitz2 

Mr Robert Adamson3 

Mr Neil Biddle4  

Mr Nicholas Cernotta5 

Mr Steve Scudamore6 

Mr John Young7 

Mr Ken Brinsden 

 

Mr Brian Lynn 

Mr Alex Eastwood8 

Mr Alan Boys9 

 

1  Mr Kiernan was appointed as Chairman of the Board on 1 July 2016.  
2 Mr Leibowitz resigned as Chairman of the Board on 1 July 2016. 
3  Mr Adamson resigned as a Non-Executive Director on 21 February 2017. 
4  Mr Biddle resigned as an Executive Director on 19 August 2016 and was appointed as Non-Executive Director on 20 August 2016. 

He resigned as Non-Executive Director on 26 July 2017. 
5  Mr Cernotta was appointed as a Non-Executive Director on 6 February 2017. 
6  Mr Scudamore was appointed as a Non-Executive Director on 18 July 2016. 
7  Mr Young resigned as an Executive Director on 31 July 2017, but continues as a Non-Executive Director. 
8  Mr Eastwood was appointed as Company Secretary on 1 September 2016. 
9  Mr Boys acted as Company Secretary until 31 August 2016 and acted in the capacity of Alternate Director from the 20 August 2016 to 

23 September 2016. 

The objective of the Company’s remuneration strategy is to ensure reward for performance is competitive and 

appropriate for the results delivered. The remuneration framework aligns executive reward with the 

achievement of short term and long term strategic objectives and the creation of value for longer term 

shareholder return. The Board ensures that the executive reward framework satisfies the following key criteria 

in line with appropriate corporate governance practices: 
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• Attract, retain and motivate key executives at important stages of the Company’s development linked to 

strategy and performance; 

• Reward executives against pre-determined performance goals/targets to achieve successful project 

development;  

• Ensure effective benchmarking for total annual remuneration in accordance with market practices and 

clearly defined peer groups of similar companies to ensure remuneration is fair and competitive;  

• Align executive interests with those of the Company’s shareholders; and 

• Comply with applicable legal requirements and appropriate standards of governance. 

The Company has structured an executive remuneration framework that is market competitive and 

complementary to the reward strategy for the organisation. Executive remuneration packages may comprise a 

mix of the following: 

• Fixed remuneration comprising base salary and employer superannuation contributions. Salaries are 

reviewed on an annual basis to ensure competitive remuneration is paid to executives with reference to 

their role, responsibility, experience and performance. Salaries are reviewed on an annual basis and are 

based on external surveys and reports that provide market rates. 

• Short-term incentives (“STIs”) comprising cash bonuses. The STIs are structured to provide remuneration 

for the achievement of individual and Company shorter term performance targets linked to the 

Company’s strategic objectives. 

• Long-term incentives (“LTIs”) may comprise cash bonuses and/or participation in equity based schemes. 

The LTIs provide remuneration for the achievement of corporate objectives linked to the long-term 

growth of the Company. 

The STIs and LTIs are all at risk. 

For the year ended 30 June 2017, no STIs were made available under the Executive Remuneration Framework. 

During the year, the Company achieved the significant milestones of completion of the definitive feasibility 

study and project funding. In prior years, the Company preserved cash for its successful exploration activities 

by granting unlisted options over ordinary shares to Executives as part of an Employee Share Option Plan. The 

vesting of these options issued under the plan are subject to the milestone achievements of: 

• Delivery of the DFS for the Pilgangoora Project (achieved in September 2016); 

• Project funding acceptable to the Board with a commensurate “decision to mine” in respect of the 

Pilgangoora Project (achieved in June 2017, subject to satisfying pre-disbursement conditions precedent 

to the drawdown of US$D bond funds); and  

• Completion of mine development and construction at Pilgangoora with the process plant achieving 85% 

design throughput at a saleable product specification.  

During the year, 14,000,000 unlisted options over ordinary shares in the Company were granted to directors 

and KMP including 10,000,000 unlisted options over ordinary shares being issued to Directors following receipt 

of shareholder approval in November 2016.  

Of the 10,000,000 unlisted options noted above, 8,000,000 were issued to Mr Kiernan (Non-Executive 

Chairman) and 2,000,000 were granted to Mr Scudamore (Non-Executive Director) both with service-related 

vesting conditions.  

With the final milestone for the options issued under the Employee Share Option Plan targeted to be achieved 

by the fourth quarter of the 2018 financial year, the Directors have adopted a new remuneration policy and 

formulated a framework which is more appropriate for the Company’s transition from development to a mining 

operation, to align a reward structure with strategic objectives that have a longer term focus consistent with a 

developing company and reflective of best practice in the market place. It is expected that the proposed 

framework will be implemented early in the 2018 financial year. This remuneration framework encompasses 
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both at risk short term (STI) and long term (LTI) incentive components with established performance hurdles 

and measures required to be achieved. 

The new remuneration framework is formulated to attract and retain key executives at a vital stage in the 

Company’s development and to ensure that all executive remuneration is directly and transparently linked with 

strategy and performance. The STIs and LTIs will be aligned with the achievement of the Company’s short-term 

and long-term strategic objectives and longer-term shareholder return. Other key objectives of the new 

remuneration framework include: 

• The establishment of performance goals and rewarding performance for successful project development in 

a way that is sustainable including health and safety, environment and community; 

• Ensuring all equity based instruments issued to executives are performance based in accordance with 

recommended corporate governance practices;  

• Ensuring effective benchmarking of total annual remuneration for executives. In this regard, the Company 

may seek external advice on market practices for a clearly defined peer group of similar companies to ensure 

remuneration is fair, competitive and responsible including the appropriate balance of fixed remuneration 

and performance based remuneration; 

• Rewarding individual and group objectives thus promoting a balance of individual performance and 

teamwork across the executive management team; 

• Preserving cash where necessary for exploration and project development; 

• Encouraging new appointments to the Board to improve diversity; and 

• Promoting independence and impartial decision making across the non-executive directors. 

a) Assessing Performance and Clawback of Remuneration 

The Board is responsible for assessing performance against key performance indicators and determining 

the STI and LTI components to be paid based upon reports from management, market conditions and 

Company performance.  

In the event of serious misconduct or a material misstatement in the Company’s financial statements, 

the Board may in its discretion cancel or defer performance-based remuneration and may also clawback 

performance-based remuneration paid in previous financial years. 

b) Consequences of Performance on Shareholder Wealth 

Executive remuneration is aimed at aligning the strategic and business objectives with the creation of 

shareholder wealth. The table below shows measures of the Group’s financial performance over the last 

five years as required by the Corporations Act 2001. However, these are not necessarily consistent with 

the measures used in determining the variable amounts of remuneration to be awarded to KMP. As a 

consequence, there may not always be a direct correlation between the statutory key performance 

measures and the variable remuneration awarded. 
 

  2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to owners 

of Pilbara Minerals Limited ($’000) 
(25,954) (55,607) (6,620)* (3,187) (1,156) 

Basic earnings/(loss) per share (cents) (2.11) (6.76) (1.12)* (1.15) (1.63) 

Dividend payments ($’000) - - - - - 

Share price $0.38 $0.62 $0.11 $0.02 $0.01 

Increase/(decrease) in share price (%) (38.7) 463.6 452.6 58.3 (14.3) 

* Restated for the change in exploration and evaluation accounting policy. 

c) Service Contracts 

The remuneration and other terms of employment for the Managing Director and other KMP during the 

period are formalised in employment agreements, which are set out below. 
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K Brinsden1  

(Managing Director/ 

Chief Executive Officer) 

B Lynn2 

(Chief Financial 

Officer) 

A Eastwood3 

(Company Secretary 

& General Counsel) 

Total fixed remuneration per annum 

inclusive of superannuation 
$350,000 $240,000 $292,604 

Resignation notice 16 weeks 16 weeks 12 weeks 

Termination notice for cause None None None 

Termination notice without cause 12 months 12 months 6 months 

Termination in case of illness or injury 

or incapacity 

Greater of 1 month or 

NES 

Greater of 1 month 

or NES 

Greater of 1 month 

or NES 

Redundancy* NES NES NES 

1 Mr Brinsden – employment agreement commenced 2 December 2015 as Chief Executive Officer. Mr Brinsden was appointed 

Managing Director on 4 May 2016. 
2 Mr Lynn – employment agreement commenced 22 June 2016. 
3 Mr Eastwood – employment agreement commenced 8 August 2016. 

*  Any payment made to the Executive in lieu of notice is set off against National Employment Standards (NES). 

During the year, Mr Young was employed as Executive Director under an employment agreement with 

a remunerated salary of $260,000 per annum exclusive of superannuation. The agreement specifies 

duties and obligations to be fulfilled and provides for an annual review of base remuneration taking into 

account performance.  On 31 July 2017, Mr Young resigned as an Executive Director and became a Non-

Executive Director of the Company at which point the service agreement was terminated.  

Remuneration for the Managing Director and other KMP is at the date of the Report being reviewed as 

part of the Company’s new remuneration framework to be implemented in FY18. 

d) Non-Executive  

The maximum annual aggregate directors’ fee pool limit is $750,000 and was approved by shareholders 

at the annual general meeting on 24 November 2016. 
 

 From 1 July 2016 18 July 2016 

Base fees (annual)   

Non-Executive Chairman 130,000 - 

Other Non-Executive Directors - 70,000 

Committee Fees (annual)   

Non-Executive Chairman - - 

Other Non-Executive Directors - 5,000 

Fees are reviewed annually by the Board taking into account comparable roles and market data. The 

Board reviewed the Chairman’s fee on the appointment of Mr Kiernan as Chairman and Non-Executive 

Director with effect from 1 July 2016 and the Non-Executive Director fees on the appointment of 

Mr Scudamore effective from 18 July 2016. 

e) Executive Remuneration Framework and Performance Pay Outcomes 

The Group’s executive KMP total remuneration structure provides for: 

• Fixed remuneration; 

• Short-term, performance linked equity remuneration (STI); and 

• Long-term, performance linked equity remuneration (LTI). 

During the period, the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer received 10.6% of his remuneration 

as fixed and 89.4% of his remuneration as LTI. The Chief Financial Officer received 14.1% of his 

remuneration as fixed and 85.9% of his remuneration as LTI. The Company Secretary and General 

Counsel received 23.3% of his remuneration as fixed, and 76.7% of his remuneration as LTI. 

For the year ended 30 June 2017, no STIs were made available under the executive remuneration 

framework.  
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Directors’ and Executive Officers’ Remuneration – audited 

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the KMP of the Group are set out in the following tables. 
 

 

Short term 
Post-employment 

benefits 

Share-based payments 

Total 

Equity options 

Salary 

and fees 

Consulting 

fees 

Superannuation 

benefits 

Non-

performance  

related 

Performance  

related 

Non-Executive Directors       

Tony Leibowitz1 
2017 - - - - - - 

2016 86,000 215,200 - 3,008,088 - 3,309,288 

Robert Adamson2 
2017 40,000 - - - - 40,000 

2016 56,000 - - 752,022 - 808,022 

Anthony Kiernan3 
2017 118,722 - 11,279 1,655,064 - 1,785,065 

2016 - - - - - - 

Steve Scudamore4 
2017 65,420 - 6,215 413,766 - 485,401 

2016 - - - - - - 

Neil Biddle5 
2017 68,924 54,867 - - - 123,791 

2016 56,000 281,500 - 3,008,088 - 3,345,588 

John Young6 
2017 193,492 - 16,812 - - 210,304 

2016 56,000 180,000 - 2,366,920 - 2,602,920 

Nicholas Cernotta7 
2017 27,520 - 2,614 - - 30,134 

2016 - - - - - - 

Executive Directors       

Ken Brinsden 
2017 330,384 - 19,622 - 2,961,590 3,311,596 

2016 150,507 - 10,264 - 1,786,291 1,947,062 

Other KMP       

Alan Boys8 
2017 -      38,000    - - - 38,000 

2016 - 216,000 - 2,254,893 - 2,470,893 

Brian Lynn 
2017 222,446 - 19,798 - 1,481,228 1,723,472 

2016 7,969 - 757 - 62,382 71,108 

Alex Eastwood9 
2017 246,795 - 17,604 - 869,563 1,133,962 

2016 - - - - - - 

Total Directors’ 

and KMP 

remuneration 

2017  1,313,703 92,867 93,944 2,068,830 5,312,381 8,881,725 

2016 412,476 892,700 11,021 11,390,011 1,848,673 14,554,881 

1  Mr Leibowitz retired as Chairman of the Board and Non-Executive Director on 1 July 2016. 
2  Mr Adamson resigned as Non-Executive Director on 21 February 2017. 
3  Mr Kiernan was appointed as Chairman of the Board and Non-Executive Director on 1 July 2016.  The options were granted on 24 

November 2016 when the share price was 54 cents.  The exercise price of the options is 63 cents and the valuation* per option is 

33.98 cents. 
4  Mr Scudamore was appointed as Non-Executive Director on 18 July 2016.  The options were granted on 24 November 2016 when the 

share price was 54 cents.  The exercise price of the options is 63 cents and the valuation* per option is 33.98 cents. 
5  Mr Biddle resigned as Executive Director on 19 August 2016 and was appointed a Non-Executive Director effective 20 August 2016 

until his resignation on 26 July 2017. 
6  Mr Young resigned as an Executive Director on 31 July 2017 and was appointed a Non-Executive Director on 1 August 2017. 
7  Mr Cernotta was appointed a Non-Executive Director on 6 February 2017. 
8  Mr Boys acted as Company Secretary until 31 August 2016 and was appointed as Alternate Director from 20 August 2016 until 

23 September 2016. 
9  Mr Eastwood was appointed Company Secretary on 1 September 2016.  The options were granted on 8 August 2016 when the share 

price was 54 cents.  The exercise price of the options is 63 cents and the valuation* per option is 26.99 cents. 

*The Black Scholes option valuation methodology was used to value the options. 
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Directors’ and Executive Officers’ Remuneration – unaudited 

The statutory remuneration disclosures detailed above for the year ended 30 June 2017 were significantly 

impacted by non-cash values ascribed to unlisted share options issued to directors and KMP, in accordance 

with Australian Accounting Standards.  

To comply with Australian Accounting Standards, the unlisted share options issued during the year were valued 

at the date of grant using the Black Scholes valuation methodology (refer below). These valuations were 

significantly impacted by the high volatility of the Company’s share price in the 16 months leading up to the 

option grant date. High volatility increases the fair value of options when the Black Scholes valuation 

methodology is applied. The exercise price of the options issued to directors during the year ended 30 June 

2017 was based on the Volume Weighted Average Share Price (“VWAP”) for the quarter ending 30 June 2016 

of 63 cents representing a 36.1% premium to the closing share price on the date the Board approved the 

option grant, subject to shareholder approval. The options were actually issued to Directors following 

shareholder approval on 24 November 2016 when the share price was 54 cents.  

Set out below are non-statutory details of the Directors and KMP remuneration for the year ended 30 June 

2017, whereby the non-cash values ascribed to share options (to comply with Australian Accounting Standards) 

have been replaced with the market value of the share options at the time the Directors approved their issue, 

to arrive at an Adjusted Remuneration Total. 
 

Director/KMP 
Total statutory 

remuneration 

LESS: Non-cash 

accounting value of 

share options 

ADD: Market value of 

share options on 

approval by Directors 

Unaudited adjusted 

remuneration total 

Robert Adamson 40,000 - - 40,000 

Ken Brinsden 3,311,596 (2,961,590) - 350,006 

Neil Biddle 123,791 - - 123,791 

John Young 210,304 - - 210,304 

Alan Boys 38,000 - - 38,000 

Brian Lynn 1,723,472 (1,481,228) - 242,244 

Anthony Kiernan 1,785,065 (1,655,064) - 130,001 

Steve Scudamore 485,401 (413,766) - 71,635 

Nicholas Cernotta 30,134 - - 30,134 

Alex Eastwood 1,133,962 (869,563) - 264,399 

Total 8,881,725 (7,381,211) - 1,500,514 

The market value of share options above was calculated as the difference between the Company’s share price 

on the date the Director’s approved the issue of the share options and the exercise price of the options. Where 

the Company’s share price was below the exercise price, a nil market value was assigned to an option. 

This table demonstrates that the Directors and KMP will benefit when the Company’s share price exceeds the 

exercise price of the options issued, which aligns the interests of the Directors and KMP with those of the 

Company’s shareholders. The realised value of options exercised by Directors and KMP during the year is set 

out in the table titled “Analysis of Movements in Equity Instruments – Audited” contained within the 

Remuneration Report. 

Equity Instruments – audited 

All options refer to unlisted options over ordinary shares in Pilbara Minerals, which are exercisable on a one-

for-one basis under the Employee Share Option Plan which was approved by shareholders on 18 April 2016 

and 25 January 2017.  

All options issued as compensation to directors and KMPs are non-cash in nature. They are valued using the 

Black Scholes option valuation methodology which calculates an implied value for each option based on the 

Company’s share price volatility, the risk free rate of return, the life of the option, the Company’s share price at 

the grant date and the option exercise price.  



 

Page 20 of 56 

Options over Equity Instruments granted as Compensation Instruments – audited 

Details on unlisted options over ordinary shares in the Company that were granted as compensation to each 

KMP during the reporting period and details on unlisted options that vested during the reporting period are 

as follows: 
 

 

No. of options 

granted during 

2017 

Grant date 

Fair value 

per option at 

grant date 

Exercise 

price per 

option 

Expiry date 

No. of options 

vested during 

2017 

Anthony Kiernan 8,000,000* 24/11/2016 $0.3398 $0.63 12/12/2019 2,666,666 

Steve Scudamore 2,000,000* 24/11/2016 $0.3398 $0.63 12/12/2019 666,666 

Ken Brinsden - 18/04/2016 $0.3815 $0.40 16/05/2019 5,000,000** 

Alex Eastwood 4,000,000** 08/08/2016 $0.2699 $0.63 08/09/2019 1,333,333 

Brian Lynn - 22/06/2016 $0.3151 $0.63 08/09/2019 2,000,000** 

*  The vesting conditions attached to these unlisted options were: 

• 33.33% vest on the date of shareholder approval of the option grant; 

• 33.33% vest 12 months after the grant date; 

• 33.33% vest 24 months after the grant date; and 

• A continuing employment service condition at the time each milestone is achieved. 

** Unlisted options were issued with the following vesting conditions: 

• 33.33% vest upon the delivery of a final DFS for the Pilgangoora Project to a standard acceptable to the Board; 

• 33.33% vest upon the funding required to develop the Pilgangoora Project being raised or procured based on parameters 

acceptable to the Board and a “decision to mine” being made by the Board in respect of the Pilgangoora Project;  

• 33.33% vest upon the Pilgangoora Project mine development and plant construction being largely complete (both for civil works 

and mine establishment) and the process plant having achieved a nominal 85% of its design throughput capacity during production 

runs, at a saleable product specification; and 

• A continuing employment service condition at the time each milestone is achieved. 

Exercise of Options granted as Compensation Instruments – audited 

During the reporting period, the following ordinary shares were issued on the exercise of unlisted options 

previously granted as compensation. 
 

 No. of shares Amount paid per share 

Robert Adamson* 1,000,000 $0.10 

Alan Boys* 312,500 $0.05 

Alan Boys* 200,000 $0.10 

John Young 5,000,000 $0.10 

* Messrs Adamson and Boys resigned during the reporting period. The numbers included in the table only include options exercised up 

to the date of resignation. 

There are no amounts unpaid on any ordinary shares issued as a result of the exercise of unlisted options 

during the 2017 financial year. 
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Details of Equity Incentives affecting Current and Future Remuneration – 

audited 

Details of vesting profiles of the unlisted options held by each KMP of the Group as at 30 June 2017 are detailed 

below. 
 

 Instrument 
No. of 

options 
Grant date 

% vested in 

year 

% forfeited 

in year (A) 

Financial year in 

which grant vests 

Ken Brinsden Options 15,000,000 18/04/2016 33.33% 0% 2017, 2018 and 2019 

Neil Biddle Options 8,000,000 18/04/2016 0% 0% 2016 

John Young Options 5,000,000 18/04/2016 0% 0% 2016 

Anthony Kiernan Options 8,000,000 24/11/2016 33.33% 0% 2017, 2018 and 2019 

Steve Scudamore Options 2,000,000 24/11/2016 33.33% 0% 2017, 2018 and 2019 

Brian Lynn Options 6,000,000 22/06/2016 33.33% 0% 2017, 2018 and 2019 

Alex Eastwood Options 4,000,000 08/08/2016 33.33% 0% 2017, 2018 and 2019 

(A) The percentage forfeited in the year represents the reduction from the maximum number of instruments available to vest due to 

performance criteria not being achieved. 

Analysis of Movements in Equity Instruments – audited 

The value of unlisted options over ordinary shares in the Company granted and exercised by each KMP during 

the reporting period is detailed below. 
 

 Granted in year (A) Value of options exercised in year (B) 

Robert Adamson* - 395,000 

John Young - 1,825,000 

Alan Boys* - 231,125 

Anthony Kiernan 

Steve Scudamore 

Alex Eastwood 

2,718,400 

679,600 

1,079,600 

- 

- 

- 

(A) The value of options granted during the year is the fair value of the unlisted options calculated at grant date. The total value of the 

unlisted options granted is included in the table above. This amount is allocated to remuneration over the applicable vesting period.  

(B) The value of unlisted options exercised during the year is calculated as the market price of shares of the Company as at close of 

trading on the date the unlisted options were exercised less the price paid to exercise the unlisted option. 

*  Messrs Adamson and Boys resigned during the reporting period. The numbers included in the table only include options exercised 

up to the date of resignation. 

Unlisted Options over Equity Instruments – audited 

The movement during the reporting period, by number of unlisted options over ordinary shares in Pilbara 

Minerals held, directly, indirectly or beneficially, by each KMP, including their related parties, is as follows: 
 

 
Held at  

1 July 2016 

Granted as 

compensation 

Exercised/ 

transferred 

(A) 

Other  

changes  

Held at  

30 June 2017 

Vested during 

the year 

Tony Leibowitz 7,100,000 - - (7,100,000) - - 

Robert Adamson 4,000,000 - (1,000,000) (3,000,000) - - 

Ken Brinsden 15,000,000 - - - 15,000,000 5,000,000 

Neil Biddle 8,000,000 - - - 8,000,000 - 

John Young 10,000,000 - (5,000,000) - 5,000,000 - 

Anthony Kiernan - 8,000,000 - - 8,000,000 2,666,666 

Steve Scudamore - 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 666,666 

Alan Boys 7,412,500 - (512,500) (6,900,000) - - 

Brian Lynn 6,000,000 - - - 6,000,000 2,000,000 

Alex Eastwood - 4,000,000 - - 4,000,000 1,333,333 

(A) Includes options exercised as free-attaching options with convertible notes acquired. 
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Key Management Personal Transactions – audited 

Movements in Shares 

The movement during the reporting period in the number of ordinary shares in Pilbara Minerals held, directly, 

indirectly or beneficially, by each key management person, including their related parties, is as follows: 
 

 Held at 1 July 2016 
Received on 

exercise of options 
Other changes1 Held at 30 June 2017 

Tony Leibowitz 25,419,269 - (25,419,269) - 

Robert Adamson 3,937,851 1,000,000 (4,937,851) - 

Ken Brinsden 869,565 - - 869,565 

Neil Biddle 36,221,930 - (3,000,000) 33,221,930 

John Young 16,158,316 5,000,000 (2,499,960) 18,658,356 

Anthony Kiernan - - 95,000 95,000 

Steve Scudamore - - - - 

Nicholas Cernotta - - - - 

Alan Boys 1,565,004 512,500 (2,077,504) - 

Brian Lynn - - - - 

Alex Eastwood - - - - 
1  Other changes represent shares that were purchased or sold during the year or shares held by KMP or directors who resigned in the 

year. 

 
 

COMPETENT PERSONS STATEMENTS 

The Company confirms it is not aware of any new information or data that materially affects the information included in 

the 25 January 2017 Pilgangoora Mineral Resource Estimate and that all material assumptions and technical parameters 

underpinning the estimate continue to apply and have not materially changed when referring to its resource announcement 

made on 25 January 2017. 

The Company confirms it is not aware of any new information or data that materially affects the information included in 

the 29 June 2017 Pilgangoora Ore Reserve Estimate and that all material assumptions and technical parameters 

underpinning the estimate continue to apply and have not materially changed when referring to its resource announcement 

made on 29 June 2017. 

 

This Directors’ Report is made out in accordance with a resolution of the directors: 

 

 

Anthony Kiernan 

Chairman 

 

Dated this 23rd day of August 2017 
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KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG 
network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG 
International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. 

 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under 
Professional Standards Legislation. 

Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration under 

Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001
     

 

To the Directors of Pilbara Minerals Limited 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit of Pilbara Minerals Limited 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2017 there have been: 

i. no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations 
Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

ii. no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
 

  

KPMG 

 

R Gambitta 
Partner 

Perth 

23 August 2017 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
For the year ended 30 June 2017 

 

 Notes 

2017 

$’000 

2016 

$’000 

Other income    

Other income  2,074 4  

    

Expenses     

General and administration   (7,790) (4,728)  

Exploration costs expensed 2.1.2 (9,743) (10,556) 

Depreciation and amortisation expense  (91) (51) 

Impairment expense 2.1.4 - (12,136) 

Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment  (16) - 

Gain on equity investment  - 812 

Share based payment expense 2.1.1 (12,415) (26,562) 

Other expenses  (46) - 

Operating loss  (28,027) (53,217) 

Finance income  2,204 149 

Finance costs  (131) (2,350) 

Net financing income/(costs) 2.2 2,073 (2,201) 

    

Loss before income tax expense  (25,954) (55,418)  

Income tax expense 2.5 - (189)  

Net loss for the period  (25,954) (55,607)  

    

Total comprehensive loss for the period  (25,954) (55,607)  

    

     

Basic and diluted loss per share for the period (cents per share) 2.6 (2.11) (6.76)  
 

 

 

The notes on pages 28 to 54 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at 30 June 2017 

 

  Notes 

2017 

$’000 

2016 

$’000 

Assets      

Current assets      

Cash and cash equivalents  4.1.1 87,248 100,040 

Restricted cash  4.1.1 134,322 - 

Trade and other receivables  4.2 4,155 1,545 

Inventories   43 46 

Total current assets   225,768 101,631 

Non-current assets     

Property, plant, equipment and mine properties  3.2.1 104,373 833 

Deferred exploration and evaluation expenditure  3.1.1 6,331 263 

Other financial assets   6 6 

Total non-current assets   110,710 1,102 

Total assets   336,478 102,733 

Liabilities     

Current liabilities     

Trade and other payables   4.3 11,428 2,952 

Provisions   4.3 243 1,004 

Borrowings  5.2 64 137 

Total current liabilities   11,735 4,093 

Non-current liabilities      

Provisions  4.3 207 - 

Borrowings  5.2 124,364 209 

Total non-current liabilities   124,571 209 

Total liabilities    136,306 4,302 

Net assets   200,172 98,431 

Equity      

Issued capital  5.1.1 261,756 146,476 

Reserves   5.1.2 32,501 21,731 

Retained earnings    (94,085) (69,776) 

Total equity  Notes 200,172 98,431 

 

 

 

The notes on pages 28 to 54 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
For the year ended 30 June 2017 

 

 Notes 

Issued 

Capital  

$’000 

Share-

based 

payment 

reserve  

$’000 

Foreign 

currency 

reserve 

$’000 

Accumulated 

losses  

$’000 

Total 

equity 

$’000 

Balance at 1 July 2015  22,526  1,325  (68) (19,882)  3,901 

Loss for the period  -  - - (55,607) (55,607) 

Total comprehensive 

income/(loss) for the period 

 -  - - (55,607) (55,607) 

Issue of ordinary shares   114,551  - - - 114,551  

Share issue costs  (7,021) - - - (7,021) 

Conversion of convertible notes  8,319 - - - 8,319 

Option conversions  8,101 - - - 8,101 

Issue of options  - 26,187 - - 26,187 

Transfer on conversion of 

options 

 - (5,713) - 5,713 - 

Balance at 30 June 2016  146,476  21,799  (68)  (69,776)  98,431 

            

Balance at 1 July 2016  146,476  21,799  (68)  (69,776)  98,431 

Loss for the period   - - - (25,954) (25,954) 

Total comprehensive 

income/(loss) for the period  

 - - - (25,954) (25,954) 

Issue of ordinary shares  5.1.1 116,465 - - - 116,465 

Share issue costs 5.1.1 (3,131) - - - (3,131) 

Option conversions 5.1.1 1,946 - - - 1,946 

Issue of options 5.1.2 - 12,415 - - 12,415 

Transfer on conversion of 

options 

5.1.2 - (1,713) - 1,713 - 

Transfer to reserves  - - 68 (68) - 

Balance at 30 June 2017  261,756 32,501 -  (94,085) 200,172 

 

 

 

The notes on pages 28 to 54 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
For the year ended 30 June 2017 

 

 Notes 

2017 

$’000 

2016 

$’000 

Cash flows from operating activities    

Cash paid to suppliers and employees  (7,986) (4,818) 

Payments for exploration and evaluation expenditure  (10,523) (9,702) 

Interest received  2,149 149 

Income tax paid  - (189) 

Other receipts  76 - 

Net cash outflow from operating activities 4.1.2 (16,284) (14,560) 

    

Cash flows from investing activities    

Payments for property, plant, equipment and mine properties  (44,926) (4,626) 

Payments for acquired exploration and evaluation expenditure  (7,872) - 

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  147 - 

Cash acquired  - 251 

Additional interests acquired in associates and joint ventures  - (2,000) 

Loan to related party  - (1,224) 

Net cash outflow from investing activities  (52,651) (7,599) 

    

Cash flows from financing activities    

Proceeds from the issue of shares and exercise of options  68,411 122,721 

Capital raising costs  (2,112) (7,021) 

Proceeds from borrowings  132,310 4,000 

Transaction costs related to borrowings  (5,491) - 

Transfer to restricted cash  (136,651) - 

Repayment of borrowing costs  (257) (143) 

Interest paid  (67) (574) 

Net cash inflow from financing activities  56,143 118,983 

    

Net (decrease)/increase in cash held  (12,792) 96,824 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period  100,040 3,216 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 4.1.1 87,248 100,040 

 

 

 

The notes on pages 28 to 54 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2017 

NOTE 1 – BASIS OF PREPARATION 

In preparing the 2017 financial statements, Pilbara Minerals Limited (“the Company”) has grouped notes into 

sections under six key categories: 

1. Basis of Preparation 

2. Results for the Year 

3. Assets and Liabilities supporting Exploration, Evaluation, Development and Mining 

4. Working Capital 

5. Equity and Funding 

6. Other Disclosures 

Significant accounting policies specific to each note are included within that note. Accounting policies that are 

determined to be non-significant are not included in the financial statements. 

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars, except where otherwise stated. 

1.1 Reporting Entity 

Pilbara Minerals Limited is a listed public company incorporated and domiciled in Australia.  

The Company’s registered office is at Level 2, 88 Colin Street, West Perth, WA 6005. These consolidated 

financial statements comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”). 

The Group is a for-profit entity and is primarily involved in the exploration for and development of 

minerals. 

1.2 Basis of Accounting 

The consolidated financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been 

prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (“AAS”) adopted by the Australian 

Accounting Standards Board (“AASB”) and the Corporations Act 2001. The consolidated financial 

statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) adopted by the 

International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). They were authorised for issue by the Board of 

Directors on 23 August 2017. 

1.3 Basis of Consolidation 

1.3.1 Business Combinations 

The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when control is transferred 

to the Group. The consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally measured at fair value, as are 

the identifiable net assets acquired. Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for impairment. Any gain 

on a bargain purchase is recognised in profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs are expensed as 

incurred, except if related to the issue of debt or equity securities.
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The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing 

relationships. Such amounts are generally recognised in profit or loss. 

Any contingent consideration is measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. If an obligation to pay 

contingent consideration that meets the definition of a financial instrument is classified as equity, then 

it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, other contingent 

consideration is remeasured at fair value at each reporting date and subsequent changes in the fair value 

of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss. 

1.3.2 Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or 

has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those 

returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the 

consolidated financial statements from the date on which control commences until the date on which 

control ceases. 

1.3.3 Interests in Equity-Accounted Investees 

The Group’s interests in equity-accounted investees comprise interests in associates and joint ventures. 

Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control or joint control, 

over the financial and operating policies. A joint venture is an arrangement in which the Group has joint 

control, whereby the Group has rights to the net assets of the arrangement, rather than rights to its 

assets and obligations for its liabilities. 

Interests in associates and joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. They are initially 

recognised at cost, which includes transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, the consolidated 

financial statements include the Group’s share of the profit or loss and OCI of equity-accounted 

investees, until the date on which significant influence or joint control ceases. 

1.3.4 Transactions eliminated on consolidation 

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-

group transactions, are eliminated. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-accounted 

investees are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee. 

Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there 

is no evidence of impairment. 

1.4 Foreign Currency Translation 

1.4.1 Functional and Presentational Currency  

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Company’s 

functional currency. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated in 

accordance with ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191. 

1.4.2 Transactions and balances  

Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing 

at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such 

transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities 

denominated in foreign currencies are generally recognised in profit or loss.  
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1.5 Use of Judgments and Estimates 

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management has made judgments, estimates and 

assumptions that affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies and the reported amounts of 

assets, liabilities, income and expense. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are 

recognised prospectively. 

Judgements and estimates which are material to the financial report are found in the following sections: 

• Note 2.1.1 – Measurement of share based payment transactions  

• Note 3.2.1 – Determining the fair value of mine development assets acquired in a share based 

payment transaction and estimation of ore reserves and resources. 

1.6 Measurement of Fair Values 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. The Group does 

not have any assets or liabilities measured at fair value at the reporting date. 

A financial asset measured at amortised cost is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether 

there is objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates 

that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event had a 

negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably. Refer to 

note 2.1.4 for policies on non-financial assets. 
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NOTE 2 – RESULTS FOR THE YEAR 

2.1 Expenses 

Expenses incurred by the Group are the main drivers of the results for the year. 

2.1.1 Share-based payment expense 
 

ACCOUNTING POLICY 

Share-based payment arrangements 

The grant-date fair value of equity-settled share-based payment arrangements granted to holders of equity 

based instruments (including employees) are generally recognised as an expense, with a corresponding increase 

in equity, over the vesting period of the awards. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the 

number of awards for which the related service and non-market performance conditions are expected to be met, 

such that the amount ultimately recognised is based on the number of awards that meet the related service and 

non-market performance conditions at the vesting date. 

For share-based payment awards with non-vesting conditions, the grant-date fair value of the share-based 

payment is measured to reflect such conditions and there is no true-up for differences between expected and 

actual outcomes. 

In determining the fair value of share based payments granted, a key estimate and judgement is the volatility 

input assumed within the option pricing model. The Company uses historical volatility of the Company to 

determine an appropriate level of volatility expected, commensurate with the expected option life. 

The share-based payment expense included within the Statement of Profit or Loss can be broken down 

as follows: 

 
2017 

$’000 

2016 

$’000 

Share options expense 12,415 26,562 

The following table shows total options granted (or deemed to be granted) during the year ended 

30 June 2017 and the value attributed to each option granted, by holder: 
 

Holder 
No. of 

options 

Exercise 

price 
Expiry 

Fair Value 

($/option) 

Value 

($’000) 

Value 

expensed 

($’000) 

Directors 10,000,000 $0.63 12/12/2019 $0.3398 3,398 2,068 

KMP 4,000,000 $0.63 08/09/2019 $0.2699 1,080 870 

Subtotal – Directors/KMP 14,000,000    4,478 2,938 

Employees 3,000,000 $0.63 08/09/2019 $0.2647 794 638 

500,000 $0.55 07/11/2019 $0.2382 119 80 

500,000 $0.55 17/11/2019 $0.2955 148 102 

Subtotal – Employees 4,000,000    1,061 820 

Subtotal – Options issued 

current year 
18,000,000    5,539 3,758 

Options issued in prior years -     8,657 

TOTAL 18,000,000     12,415 

All options issued to Directors were approved by shareholders at General Meeting held in November 

2016. 
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The number and weighted average exercise prices of unlisted share options are as follows: 
 

 2017 2016 

Weighted average 

exercise price No. of options 

Weighted average 

exercise price No. of options 

Outstanding at 1 July $0.351 109,422,346 $0.036 41,469,994 

Exercised during the period $0.080 (24,420,832) $0.066 (122,793,103) 

Lapsed during the period $0.288 (1,433,333) - - 

Granted during the period $0.622 18,000,000 $0.236 190,745,455 

Outstanding at 30 June $0.467 101,568,181 $0.351 109,422,346 

Exercisable at 30 June  65,234,847  71,122,346 

The classes of the options on issue as at 30 June 2017 are as follows: 
 

Options issued Expiry date Exercise price No. of options not yet exercised 

17,045,455 1 December 2017 $0.15 1,768,182 

37,500,000 16 May 2018 $0.40 37,500,000 

800,000 a 16 May 2018 $0.40 800,000 

7,000,000 16 May 2018 $0.65 7,000,000 

31,500,000 b 16 May 2019 $0.40 30,500,000 

13,000,000 b 8 September 2019 $0.63 13,000,000 

500,000c 7 November 2019 $0.55 500,000 

500,000c 17 November 2019 $0.55 500,000 

10,000,000d 12 December 2019 $0.63 10,000,000 

a  The vesting conditions attached to this set of options were employees providing six months of continuous service to the 

Company. 

b The vesting conditions attached to these unlisted options were: 

• 33.33% vest upon the delivery of a final DFS for the Pilgangoora Project to a standard acceptable to the Board; 

• 33.33% vest upon the funding required to develop the Pilgangoora Project being raised or procured based on parameters 

acceptable to the Board and a “decision to mine” being made by the Board in respect of the Pilgangoora Project;*  

• 33.33% vest upon the Pilgangoora Project mine development and plant construction being largely complete (both for 

civil works and mine establishment) and the process plant having achieved a nominal 85% of its design throughput 

capacity during production runs, at a saleable product specification; and 

• A continuing employment service condition at the time each milestone is achieved. 

c  The vesting conditions attached to these unlisted options were: 

• 50% vest upon the funding required to develop the Pilgangoora Project being raised or procured based on parameters 

acceptable to the Board and a “decision to mine” being made by the Board in respect of the Pilgangoora Project;* 

• 50% vest upon the Pilgangoora Project mine development and plant construction being largely complete (both for civil 

works and mine establishment) and the process plant having achieved a nominal 85% of its design throughput capacity 

during production runs, at a saleable product specification; and 

• A continuing employment service condition at the time each milestone is achieved. 

d  The vesting conditions attached to these unlisted options were: 

• 33.33% vest on the date of shareholder approval of the option grant; 

• 33.33% vest 12 months after the grant date; 

• 33.33% vest 24 months after the grant date; 

• a continuing employment service condition at the time each milestone is achieved. 

* These options are expected to vest upon completion of pre-disbursement conditions associated with the US$ secured 

bond. 

Unless stated, there are no other vesting conditions on options on issue. 
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2.1.2 Exploration and evaluation expenditure 
 

ACCOUNTING POLICY 

Exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources is the search for mineral resources after the entity has 

obtained legal rights to explore in a specific area, as well as the determination of the technical feasibility and 

commercial viability of extracting the mineral resource. Accordingly, exploration and evaluation expenditures are 

those expenditures incurred in connection with the exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources before 

the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting a mineral resource are demonstrable. 

Accounting for exploration and evaluation expenditures is assessed separately for each “area of interest”. Each 

“area of interest” is an individual geological area which is considered to constitute a favourable environment for 

the presence of a mineral deposit or has been proved to contain such a deposit. 

Exploration and evaluation costs are written off in the year they are incurred, apart from acquisition costs which 

are carried forward where right of tenure of the area of interest is current, and they are expected to be recouped 

through sale or successful development and exploitation of the area of interest, or where exploration and 

evaluation activities in the area of interest have not reached a stage that permits reasonable assessment of the 

existence of economically recoverable reserves. 

Where an area of interest is abandoned, or the Directors decide that it is not commercially viable, any 

accumulated acquisition costs in respect of that area are written off in the financial period the decision is made. 

Each area of interest is also reviewed at the end of each accounting period and accumulated costs are written off 

to the extent that they will not be recoverable in the future. 

Exploration and evaluation assets are transferred to Mine Properties in Development once technical feasibility 

and commercial viability of an area of interest is demonstrable. Exploration and evaluation assets are tested for 

impairment, and any impairment loss is recognised, prior to being reclassified. 

 

 
2017 

$’000 

2016 

$’000 

Costs expensed in relation to areas of interest in the exploration and 

evaluation phase (9,743) (10,556) 

Included in this balance are $6.3 million of costs associated with the Definitive Feasibility Study and 

additional studies at the Pilgangoora Project. On 1 October 2016, the Group transitioned the Pilgangoora 

Project from the exploration stage to the development phase following the successful outcome of the 

Definitive Feasibility Study. From this date costs associated with the development of the project have 

been capitalised and included within mine properties in development (refer Note 3.2.1). 

2.1.3 Operating lease commitments 
 

ACCOUNTING POLICY 

Leases 

At inception of an arrangement, the Group determines whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease. 

At inception or on reassessment of an arrangement that contains a lease, the Group separates payments and 

other consideration required by the arrangement into those for the lease and those for other elements on the 

basis of their relative fair values. If the Group concludes for a finance lease that it is impracticable to separate 

the payments reliably, then an asset and a liability are recognised at an amount equal to the fair value of the 

underlying asset; subsequently, the liability is reduced as payments are made and an imputed finance cost on 

the liability is recognised using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. 

Leased assets 

Leases of property, plant and equipment that transfer to the Group substantially all of the risks and rewards of 

ownership are classified as finance leases. The leased assets are measured initially at an amount equal to the 

lower of their fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial 

recognition, the assets are accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset. 

Assets held under other leases are classified as operating leases and are not recognised in the Group’s 

Statement of Financial Position. 
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ACCOUNTING POLICY 

Lease payments 

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of 

the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term 

of the lease. 

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense and the 

reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term so 

as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. 

The Group has entered into an operating lease for its head office premises for a lease term of three 

years. The Group has an option to extend the lease for an additional term of three years. 

The operating lease expense recognised within the Statement of Profit or Loss is as follows: 
 

 

2017 

$’000 

2016 

$’000 

Operating lease expense 214 - 

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 30 June are, as follows: 
 

 

2017 

$’000 

2016 

$’000 

Within one year 314 - 

After one year but not more than five years 430 - 

 744 - 

2.1.4 Impairment expense 
 

ACCOUNTING POLICY  

Non-financial assets 

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other than inventories 

and deferred tax assets) to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, 

then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment. 

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows 

from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or cash generating units 

(“CGUs”). Goodwill arising from a business combination is allocated to CGUs or groups of CGUs that are expected 

to benefit from the synergies of the combination. 

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. 

Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 

discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 

asset or CGU. 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount. 

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. They are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any 

goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU on a pro 

rata basis. 

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss is reversed only 

to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 

determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 
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The impairment expense recognised within the Statement of Profit or Loss in 2016 relates to the Tabba 

Tabba Tantalum Project and can be broken down as follows: 
 

 

2017 

$’000 

2016 

$’000 

Impairment – property, plant and equipment - 4,449 

Impairment – mine development - 7,660 

 - 12,109 

Reversal of liability - (1,300) 

Impairment – goodwill - 1,327 

 - 12,136 

For the 2017 financial year, no indicators of impairment have been identified and as such no testing for 

impairment has been performed. 

2.2 Net Financing Costs 
 

ACCOUNTING POLICY 

The Group’s finance income and finance costs include: 

• interest income; 

• interest expense; and  

• foreign exchange gains and losses. 

Interest income or expense is recognised using the effective interest method.  

Net financing costs can be analysed as follows: 

 

2017 

$’000 

2016 

$’000 

Interest income on bank deposits 2,204 149 

Finance income 2,204 149 

Interest expense – convertible notes  (40) (2,318) 

Interest expense – hire purchase assets (33) (27) 

Interest expense – borrowings (27) - 

Interest expense – other (2) - 

Net foreign exchange loss (29) (5) 

Finance costs (131) (2,350) 

Net finance income/(costs) recognised in profit or loss 2,073 (2,201) 

Interest costs of $0.4 million directly attributable to the US$ secured bond debt facility were capitalised 

as part of the cost of the Pilgangoora Project, as a result of it being a qualifying development asset.   

2.3 Operating Segments 

For management purposes, the Group has one operating segment, being mineral exploration, evaluation 

and development in Australia. Segment results that are reported to the Group’s chief operating decision 

maker include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a 

reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly of corporate assets and head office expenses. 
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2.3.1 Information about reporting segments 

 

Mineral exploration, evaluation and 

development 

2017 

$’000 

2016 

$’000 

For the year ended 30 June    

Reportable segment other income 2,109 - 

Reportable segment costs expensed (10,329) (22,692) 

Reportable segment loss before income tax (8,220) (22,692) 

Reportable segment assets 246,920 763 

Reportable segment liabilities 134,044 3,470 

Reconciliation of reportable segment loss and assets 
  

Loss   

Total loss for reportable segments (8,220) (22,692) 

Unallocated amounts: corporate expenses (19,829) (30,714) 

Net finance income/(costs) 2,095 (2,201) 

Loss before income tax (25,954) (55,607) 

Asset 
  

Total assets for reportable segments 246,920 763 

Assets for corporate segment 89,558 101,970 

 336,478 102,733 

2.4 Personnel Expenses 
 

ACCOUNTING POLICY 

Short-term employee benefits 

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the 

amount expected to be paid if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a 

result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

For share-based payment awards with non-vesting conditions, the grant-date fair value of the share-based 

payment is measured to reflect such conditions and there is no true-up for differences between expected and 

actual outcomes. 

Defined contribution plans 

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are expensed as the related service is provided. 

Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future 

payments is available. 

Other long-term employee benefits 

The Group’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future benefit that 

employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. That benefit is discounted to 

determine its present value. Re-measurements are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. 

Termination benefits 

Termination benefits are expensed at the earlier of when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those 

benefits and when the Group recognises costs for a restructuring. If benefits are not expected to be settled 

wholly within 12 months of the reporting date, then they are discounted. 
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The table below sets out personnel costs expensed during the year: 

 
2017 

$’000 

2016 

$’000 

Wages and salaries 2,898 883 

Superannuation expense 239 110 

 3,137 993 

2.5 Income Tax Expenses 
 

ACCOUNTING POLICY 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that 

it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in OCI. 

Current tax 

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, and any 

adjustment to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax payable or 

receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects uncertainty related 

to income taxes, if any. It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

Current tax also includes any tax arising from dividends. Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain 

criteria are met. 

Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not 

recognised for: 

• Temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business 

combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss; 

• Temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements to the extent 

that the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable 

that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and  

• Taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary differences 

to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used. Future 

taxable profits are determined based on business plans for individual subsidiaries in the Group. Deferred tax 

assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the 

related tax benefit will be realised; such reductions are reversed when the probability of future taxable profits 

improves. 

Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognised to the extent that it has 

become probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used. 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they 

reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the 

Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. For this 

purpose, the carrying amount of investment property measured at fair value is presumed to be recovered through 

sale, and the Group has not rebutted this presumption. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met. 

2.5.1 Income tax expense 
 2017 

$’000 

2016 

$’000 

Current income tax expense - (189) 
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2.5.2 Reconciliation of effect tax rates 
 2017 

$’000 

2016 

$’000 

Loss before tax from continuing operations (25,954) (55,418) 

   

Tax using the Company’s domestic tax rate of 30% (2016: 30%) (7,786) (16,625) 

Subsidiary tax liability - (189) 

Tax effect of: 
  

Non-deductible expenses   

Share based payment expense 3,725 7,969 

Gain on equity investment - (244) 

Financing costs - 523 

Other 20 30 

   

Tax losses not recognised 4,445 4,316 

Temporary differences not brought to account (404) 4,031 

Income tax expense reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss - (189) 

Potential deferred tax assets have not been recognised at 30 June 2017 for deductible temporary 

differences and tax losses because it is not probable that future taxable profit will be available against 

which the Company can use the benefits. The deferred tax losses not recognised at 30 June 2017 have 

a tax effected value of $10.4 million (2016: $6.4 million). 

2.6 Loss per share 

Basic loss per share 

 

2017 

$’000 

2016 

$’000 

Net loss attributable to ordinary shareholders (25,954) (55,607) 

   

Issued ordinary shares at 1 July 1,148,051 658,579 

Effect of shares issued 81,516 164,403 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 30 June 1,229,567 822,982 

Basic and diluted loss per share (cents)* (2.11) (6.76) 

*  Due to the fact that the Company made a loss, potential ordinary shares from the exercise of options have been 

excluded due to their anti-dilutive effect 
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NOTE 3 – ASSETS AND LIABILITIES SUPPORTING EXPLORATION, 

EVALUATION, DEVELOPMENT AND MINING 

This section focuses on the exploration, evaluation, development and mining assets which form the core of the 

Group’s business, including those assets and liabilities that support the ongoing exploration, evaluation, 

development and mining activities as well as commitments existing at the year end. 

3.1 Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure 
 

ACCOUNTING POLICY 

Refer to Note 2.1.2 for the Company’s exploration and evaluation expenditure policy. 

3.1.1 Exploration and evaluation assets 

 

2017 

$’000 

2016 

$’000 

Costs carried forward in relation to areas of interest in the exploration and 

evaluation phase 6,331 263 

Reconciliations: Exploration and evaluation phase   

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year 263 263 

Acquisitions 10,872 - 

Transfer to mine properties in development phase (4,804) - 

Carrying amount at the end of the year 6,331 263 

3.1.2 Exploration licence expenditure commitments 

The Company has minimum exploration licence commitments as follows: 
 

 

2017 

$’000 

2016 

$’000 

Within one year 482 125 

Later than one year but less than five years 1,395 260 

Greater than five years 2,272 557 

3.2 Property, Plant, Equipment and Mine Properties 
 

ACCOUNTING POLICY 

Property, Plant and Equipment 

Recognition and measurement 

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 

impairment losses. Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. When 

parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as a separate 

item of property, plant and equipment.  

Depreciation 

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property plant and equipment less their estimated 

residual value using either the straight line or units of production methods over either the estimated useful life 

or the estimated resource. Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss. Land is not depreciated. 

The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment for current and comparative periods are as follows: 

• Office equipment  2 to 10 years 

• Plant and equipment 5 years 

• Motor vehicles 5 years 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at each reporting date and adjusted 

appropriately. 
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Mine Properties in Development 

Development expenditure relates to costs incurred to access a mineral resource. It represents those costs incurred 

after the technical and commercial viability of extracting the mineral resource has been demonstrated and an 

identified mineral reserve is being prepared for production (but is not yet in production). 

Development expenditure is capitalised as either a tangible or intangible asset depending on the nature of the 

costs incurred. Capitalisation of development expenditure ceases once the mining property is capable of 

commercial production, at which point it is transferred into Property, Plant and Equipment or Mineral Rights 

(depending on whether it is a tangible or intangible asset) and depreciated over the useful life of the asset. Any 

development expenditure incurred once a mine property is in production is immediately expensed to the 

Statement of Profit or Loss except where it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the Group, in 

which case it is capitalised as Property, Plant and Equipment or Mineral Rights. 

Development expenditure includes the direct costs of construction, pre-production costs, borrowing costs 

incurred during the construction phase, reclassified exploration and evaluation assets (acquisition costs) and 

subsequent development expenditure on the reclassified areas of interest. 

Mineral Rights 

Mineral Rights are capitalised exploration and evaluation acquisition costs transferred from Deferred Exploration 

and Evaluation Expenditure upon a decision to mine, as well as other intangible assets that are transferred from 

Mine Properties in Development upon completion of development and commencement of commercial 

production.  

Resources and Reserves 

Resources are estimates of the amount of saleable product that can be economically extracted from the Group’s 

mine properties. In order to calculate resources, estimates and assumptions are required about a range of 

geological, technical and economic factors, including quantities, grades, production techniques, recovery rates, 

production costs, future capital requirements, short and long-term commodity prices and exchange rates. 

Estimating the quantity and/or grade of resources requires the size, shape and depth of orebodies to be 

determined by analysing geological data. This process may require complex and difficult geological judgements 

and calculations to interpret the data. 

The Group determines and reports ore resources under the Australian Code of Reporting for Mineral Resource 

and Ore Reserves (2012), known as the JORC Code. The JORC Code requires the use of reasonable assumptions 

to calculate resources. Due to the fact that economic assumptions used to estimate resources may change from 

period to period, and geological data is generated during the course of operations, estimates of resources may 

change from period to period. Changes in reported resources may affect the Group’s financial results and 

financial position in a number of ways, including: 

• Asset carrying values may be impacted due to changes in estimates of future cash flows 

• Amortisation charged in the profit and loss statement may change where such charges are calculated using 

the units of production basis 

• Decommissioning, site restoration and environmental provisions may change due to changes in the estimated 

resources after expectations about the timing or costs of the activities change; and 

• Recognition of deferred tax assets, including tax losses. 
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3.2.1 Property, plant, equipment and mine properties 
 

 

Property, 

plant and 

equipment 

$’000 

Hire 

purchase 

equipment 

$’000 

Mine 

properties in 

development 

$’000 

Mineral 

rights 

$’000 

Mine 

rehabilitation 

$’000 

Total 

$’000 

AT 30 JUNE 2016       

Cost 4,468 696 6,909 - 950 13,023 

Accumulated depreciation (81) - - - - (81) 

Impairment loss (3,928) (521) (6,909) - (751) (12,109) 

Balance at 30 June 2016 459 175 - - 199 833 

AT 30 JUNE 2017       

Opening net book value 459 175 - - 199 833 

Additions 172 - 48,810 50,000 147 99,129 

Disposals (33) (130) - - - (163) 

Transfers and other movements - - - 4,804 (139) 4,665 

Depreciation charge (91) - - - - (91) 

Balance at 30 June 2017 507 45 48,810 54,804 207 104,373 

Since the positive outcome of the Pilgangoora Project’s Definitive Feasibility Study in September 2016, 

the Group has continued with the development of the Project, spending $48.8 million.  

During the year ending 30 June 2017, the Group issued $50 million of Company shares to Mineral 

Resources Limited as consideration for the relinquishment of a 2.5% net smelter lithium royalty and the 

permanent extinguishment of a right of first refusal to purchase lithium products produced from the 

Pilgangoora Project. The corresponding impact on equity is shown in Note 5.1.1. 

As at 30 June 2017 the Group had outstanding contractual capital commitments of $28.7 million (2016: 

nil) which are expected to be settled prior to 30 June 2018. 

NOTE 4 – WORKING CAPITAL 

4.1 Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash 
 

ACCOUNTING POLICY 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits with a maturity of less than or equal to six 

months from the date of acquisition. The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents is considered to 

approximate fair value. 

Restricted cash represents funds whose access is restricted until such time as certain conditions precedent are 

satisfied.  

4.1.1 Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 

 

2017 

$’000 

2016 

$’000 

Bank balances 118 6,019 

Call deposits 87,130 94,021 

Cash and cash equivalents in the Statement of Financial Position 87,248 100,040 

Restricted cash 134,322 - 

 221,570 100,040 
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The restricted cash balance of $134.3 million represents funds received following settlement of a 

US$100 million senior secured bond in June 2017 (refer Note 5.2). Funds received are required to be 

held in a US$ denominated escrow bank account in the name of the Company’s 100% wholly owned 

subsidiary Pilgangoora Operations Pty Ltd, with access to the cash restricted until pre-disbursement 

conditions precedent are satisfied. Upon satisfaction, the funds will be capable of drawdown, subject to 

an ongoing cost to complete test being achieved. 

For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and 

at bank and all call deposits. 

 

2017 

$’000 

2016 

$’000 

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 221,570 100,040 

Less: Restricted cash (134,322) - 

Cash and cash equivalents in the Statement of Cash Flows 87,248 100,040 

4.1.2 Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities 

 

2017 

$’000 

2016 

$’000 

Cash flows from operating activities   

Loss for the period (25,954) (55,607) 

Adjustments for:   

- Depreciation 91 51 

- Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 16 - 

- Finance costs 125 2,350 

- Impairment expense - 12,136 

- Inventory write down 46 - 

- Share based payment expense 12,415 26,562 

- Gain on equity investment - (812) 

Operating loss before changes in working capital and provisions (13,261) (15,320) 

Change in trade and other receivables (1,566) (620) 

Change in trade payables and employee benefits (1,457) 1,380 

Net cash used in operating activities (16,284) (14,560) 

4.2 Trade and Other Receivables 
 

ACCOUNTING POLICY 

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value which is usually the value of the invoice sent to 

the counterparty and subsequently at the amounts considered recoverable. Where there is evidence that the 

receivable is not recoverable, it is impaired with a corresponding charge to the profit or loss statement. 

The Group undertakes expenditure on activities that are categorised as “eligible expenditure” under the 

Research and Development Tax Incentive which, dependent upon certain criteria, may be subject to a tax offset. 

Where a tax offset has been received or is receivable in cash, the Group accounts for the tax offset as follows: 

• Where a grant is received or receivable in relation to research and development costs which have been 

capitalised, the tax offset is deducted from the carrying amount of the asset; or 

• Where a grant is received or receivable in relation to research and development costs which have been 

charged to profit or loss during this or a prior financial year, the tax offset shall be credited to the Statement 

of Profit or Loss. 
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2017 

$’000 

2016 

$’000 

Current   

Goods and services tax receivable 770 671 

Security deposits 673 759 

Research and development grant 2,033 - 

Other receivables 679 115 

 4,155 1,545 

4.3 Trade and Other Payables and Provisions 
 

ACCOUNTING POLICY 

Trade payables 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Company prior to the end of the 

financial year which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually payable within 30 days’ net of 

recognition. Trade payables are recognised initially at the value of the invoice received from a supplier. 

Provisions 

Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current 

market assessments of the time value of money, and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the 

discount is recognised as a finance cost. 

Mine Rehabilitation 

In accordance with the applicable legal requirements, a provision for site rehabilitation in respect of returning 

the land to its original state is recognised when land is disturbed. 

At each reporting date, the site rehabilitation provision is remeasured to reflect any changes in discount rates 

and timing or amounts of the costs to be incurred. Such changes in the estimated liability are accounted for 

prospectively from the date of the change and added to, or deducted from, the related asset where it is 

possible that future economic benefits will flow to the Group. 
 

 

2017 

$’000 

2016 

$’000 

Current – Trade and other payables   

Trade payables 3,855 2,093 

Accruals 7,174 802 

Interest payable 395 - 

Other payables 4 57 

 11,428 2,952 

Current – Provisions    

Mine rehabilitation provision - 962 

Annual leave provision 243 42 

 243 1,004 

Non-Current – Provisions    

Mine rehabilitation provision 207 - 

 207 - 
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NOTE 5 – EQUITY AND FUNDING 

5.1 Capital and Reserves 
 

ACCOUNTING POLICY 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares are 

recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects. 

5.1.1 Ordinary shares 

 

2017 

$’000 

2017 

Number 

(‘000) 

2016 

$’000 

2016 

Number 

(‘000) 

Fully paid ordinary shares 261,756 1,466,538 146,476 1,148,051 

Total share capital on issue at 30 June 261,756 1,466,538 146,476 1,148,051 

Movements in ordinary shares on issue:     

On issue at 1 July  146,476 1,148,051 22,526 658,579 

Shares issued during the period:     

Issued for cash 66,465 189,900 114,551 338,195 

Issued for assets (refer Note 3.2.1) 50,000 104,167 - - 

Exercise of share options 1,946 24,420 8,101 122,793 

Conversion of convertible notes and accrued interest - - 8,319 28,484 

Share issue costs (3,131) - (7,021) - 

On issue at 30 June 261,756 1,466,538 146,476 1,148,051 

To ensure the development of the Pilgangoora Project was fully funded, the Company launched a 

$95 million equity raising on 15 June 2017 at an issue price of 35 cents per ordinary share by way of the 

following components: 

• Tranche 1 Placement – issue of 189.9 million ordinary shares to raise $66.5 million which was 

settled on 26 June 2017; 

• Tranche 2 Placement – issue of 38.7 million ordinary shares to raise $13.5 million, which was 

settled on 2 August 2017 following the receipt of shareholder approval; and  

• Share Purchase Plan – issue of 43.8 million ordinary shares to raise $15.3 million which was settled 

on 2 August 2017 (refer to Note 6.5 for details of subsequent events). 

Terms and conditions of ordinary shares 

Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are 

entitled to one vote per share at shareholders’ meetings. In the event of winding up of the Company, 

ordinary shareholders rank after all other shareholders and creditors with respect to any proceeds of 

liquidations. 

5.1.2 Reserves 

 

2017 

$’000 

2016 

$’000 

Share-based payment reserve 32,501 21,799 

Foreign currency reserve - (68) 

 32,501 21,731 
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Share-based payment reserve 

 

2017 

$’000 

2016 

$’000 

Share-based payment reserve 32,501 21,799 

Movements in share-based payment reserve:   

Balance at 1 July  21,799 1,325 

Share based payment expense following issue of options 12,415 26,187 

Options exercised and transferred to accumulated losses (1,713) (5,713) 

Balance at reporting date 32,501 21,799 

The share-based payment reserve is used to record the fair value of the options issued. Options issued 

to directors, consultants and employees during the year and their associated value impact on the share 

based payment reserve are as follows: 
 

Option 

Grant date 

(valuation 

purposes)* 

Share price on 

date of grant 

Exercise 

price 
Expiry date 

Valuation (cents 

per option) 

6,000,000 ** 22/06/2016 $0.57 $0.63 08/09/2019 31.51 

3,000,000** 16/08/2016 $0.53 $0.63 08/09/2019 26.47 

4,000,000 ** 08/08/2016 $0.54 $0.63 08/09/2019 26.99 

500,000 ** 19/09/2016 $0.54 $0.55 17/11/2019 29.55 

500,000 ** 07/11/2016 $0.47 $0.55 07/11/2019 23.82 

10,000,000 ** 24/11/2016 $0.54 $0.63 12/12/2019 33.98 

*  This is the grant date used for valuation purposes and represents the date options are awarded to employees or directors, it is 

not the date the options are issued. 

** The vesting conditions attached to these unlisted options are detailed in Note 2.1.1 

All option valuations during the period were performed by an independent third party valuer. The Black 

Scholes option valuation methodology was used to value the options. Inputs to the option valuation 

model included the Company’s share price volatility, risk free rates, option life, and the option exercise 

price. Option volatility was calculated using the share price movement of the Company over the past 

12 months up until the date the options were granted. 

The key inputs used in the measurement of the fair values at grant date of the equity-settled share based 

payment plans were as follows: 

 2017 2016 

Expected volatility (weighted average) 103.9% 102.4% 

Expected life (weighted average) 2.6 years 2.0 years 

Risk free interest rate (based on government bonds) (weighted average) 1.7% 1.8% 

5.2 Loans and Borrowings 
 

ACCOUNTING POLICY 

Loans and borrowings are initially measured at fair value less any directly attributable transaction costs. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, these liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 

rate method. 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily 

takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of 

the asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they occur. Borrowing costs consist of 

interest and other costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds. Investment income earned on the 

temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from 

the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation. 
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This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group’s interest-bearing loans and 

borrowings. For more information about the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk, see Note 6.1. 
 

 

2017 

$’000 

2016 

$’000 

Current   

Hire purchase liability 64 137 

Total borrowings – current 64 137 

Non-current   

Hire purchase liability 33 209 

Secured debt (US$ denominated bond) (refer Note 5.2.2) 124,331 - 

Total borrowings – non-current 124,364 209 

5.2.1 Terms and repayment schedule 

The terms and conditions of outstanding loans are as follows: 
 

 

Currency 

Nominal 

interest 

rate 

Year of 

maturity 

2017 2016 

Face 

value 

$’000 

Carrying 

amount 

$’000 

Face 

value 

$’000 

Carrying 

amount 

$’000 

Hire purchase A$ 6.5% 2019 97 97 346 346 

US$100 million secured bond US$ 12.0% 2022 132,310 124,331 - - 

Total interest-bearing liabilities 132,407 124,428 346 346 

5.2.2 US$ Secured Bond 

On 21 June 2017, the Group completed settlement of a US$100 million senior secured bond facility as 

part of the funding package for the development of the Pilgangoora Project. The bonds were issued by 

the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, Pilgangoora Operations Pty Limited and are administered by 

the bond trustee, Nordic Trustee ASA. The coupon rate is 12% per annum with interest payable quarterly 

in arrears. Pursuant to the bond terms, the proceeds are to be applied towards capital and development 

costs associated with the Pilgangoora Project following the satisfaction of pre-disbursement conditions. 

The bond facility is secured against the assets of the Pilgangoora Project. 

The carrying amount of the US$ secured bond is made up as follows: 

 

2017 

$’000 

Bond proceeds at inception 132,310 

Unrealised foreign exchange gain1 (2,305) 

Bond proceeds at 30 June 2017 130,005 

Directly attributable transaction costs (5,705) 

Amortisation of transaction costs 31 

Carrying amount at 30 June 2017 124,331 

1  The value of the US$ secured bond is required to be re-stated at the end of each financial period utilising the closing 

foreign exchange rate. 
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5.3 Capital Management 

Capital consists of ordinary share capital, retained earnings, reserves and net debt. The Group’s 

objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern 

so as to maintain a strong capital base sufficient to maintain future exploration, development and 

operating activities. 

There were no changes to the Group’s approach to capital management during the year. 

NOTE 6 – OTHER DISCLOSURES 

6.1 Financial Risk Management 
 

ACCOUNTING POLICY 

The Group classifies non-derivative financial assets into the following categories:  

• Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss; 

• Held-to-maturity financial assets; 

• Loans and receivables; and  

• Available-for-sale financial assets. 

The Group classifies non-derivative financial liabilities into the following categories:  

• Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss; and  

• Other financial liabilities. 

Non-derivative financial assets and financial liabilities – Recognition and de-recognition 

The Group initially recognises loans and receivables and debt securities issued on the date when they are 

originated. All other financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised on the trade date when the 

entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it 

transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks and 

rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred, or it neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the 

risks and rewards of ownership and does not retain control over the transferred asset. Any interest in such 

derecognised financial assets that is created or retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset or liability. 

The Group de-recognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or 

expire. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset, and the net amount presented in the statement of financial 

position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to offset the amounts and 

intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

Non-derivative financial assets – Measurement 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

A financial asset is classified as at fair value through profit or loss if it is classified as held for-trading or is 

designated as such on initial recognition. Directly attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss 

as incurred. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value and changes therein, 

including any interest or dividend income, are recognised in profit or loss. 

Held-to-maturity financial assets 

These assets are initially measured at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to 

initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

Loans and receivables 

These assets are initially measured at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to 

initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
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ACCOUNTING POLICY 

Available-for-sale financial assets 

These assets are initially measured at fair value, plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to 

initial recognition, they are measured at fair value and changes therein, other than impairment losses and 

foreign currency differences on debt instruments, are recognised in other comprehensive income and 

accumulated in the fair value reserve. When these assets are derecognised, the gain or loss accumulated in 

equity is reclassified to profit or loss. 

Non-derivative financial liabilities – Measurement 

A financial liability is classified as at fair value through profit or loss if it is classified as held-for-trading or is 

designated as such on initial recognition. Directly attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss 

as incurred. Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value and changes 

therein, including any interest expense, are recognised in profit or loss. Other non-derivative financial liabilities 

are initially measured at fair value less any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 

recognition, these liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

Set out below are details of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period. 
 

 2017 

$’000 

2016 

$’000 

Financial assets   

Cash and cash equivalents 87,248 100,040 

Restricted cash 134,322 - 

Trade and other receivables 4,155 1,545 

Other financial assets 6 6 

Total financial assets 225,731 101,591 

Financial liabilities   

Trade and other payables 11,428 2,952 

Borrowings 124,428 346 

Total financial liabilities 135,856 3,298 

6.1.1 Overview 

The Group has exposure to the following risks from their use of financial instruments: 

• Credit risk 

• Liquidity risk 

• Market risk 

The Company’s Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the 

Group’s risk management framework. The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify 

and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls and to monitor risks 

and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes 

in market conditions and the Group’s activities.  

The Group’s management of financial risk is aimed at ensuring net cash flows are sufficient to meet all 

of its financial commitments and maintain the capacity to fund the exploration, evaluation and 

development of the Pilgangoora Project and ancillary exploration activities. 

The principal financial instruments as at the reporting date include cash, receivables, payables and loan 

and finance agreements. 

Set out below is information about exposures to the above risks, the objectives, policies and processes 

for measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital. 
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6.1.2 Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet 

its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s cash at bank and term deposits. 

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. 

The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by only transacting with high credit quality financial 

institutions. During the year the Group maintained all cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash balances 

with banks and financial institutions holding a AA- rating based on S&P Global ratings. 

The trade and other receivables balance consists of 67% of receivables being from the Australian Tax 

Office and 16% in bonds with a high credit quality financial institution. 

6.1.3 Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated 

with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group’s 

approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet 

its liabilities when they are due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring 

unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation. The Group also manages liquidity risk 

by producing cash flow forecasts to ensure that there is a clear and up-to-date view of the short to 

medium term funding requirements and the possible sources of those funds. The Group aims to maintain 

the level of its cash and cash equivalents and other highly marketable debt investments at an amount in 

excess of expected cash outflows on financial liabilities. 

The following are the remaining contractual maturities of financial liabilities at the reporting date. The 

amounts are gross and undiscounted, and include contractual interest payments and exclude the impact 

of netting agreements: 
 

 

Carrying 

amount 

$’000 

Contractual cashflows 

Total 

$’000 

Six months 

or less 

$’000 

Six to 12 

months 

$’000 

One to two 

years 

$’000 

Two to five 

years 

$’000 

30 June 2017 
      

Non-derivative 

financial liabilities 

   

 

   

Hire purchase 97 102 34 34 34 - 

Secured debt 124,331 199,233 7,800 7,800 15,601 168,032 

Trade payables 3,855 3,855 3,855 - - - 

 128,283 203,190 11,689 7,834 15,635 168,032 

30 June 2016       

Non-derivative 

financial liabilities 

      

Hire purchase 346 373 77 77 155 64 

Trade payables 2,093 2,093 2,093 - - - 

 2,439 2,466 2,170 77 155 64 

The secured debt has certain financial covenants that if breached could cause early repayment. The 

Group is not anticipating any breach of covenants. 
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6.1.4 Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices – such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates 

– will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings in financial instruments. The objective of 

market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters. 

The Group’s exposure to market risk has changed during the period ending 30 June 2017 due to 

settlement of a senior secured bond facility (US$100 million) resulting in increased exposure to foreign 

exchange risk.  

a) Foreign Exchange Risk 

Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions and recognised financial assets 

and financial liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the Group’s functional currency. 

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk exposure arising from future commercial transactions 

through sensitivity analysis, cash flow management and forecasting.  

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk principally through the holding of US$ denominated 

restricted cash and borrowings. 

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk at the end of the Reporting Period was as follows: 
 

 2017 

USD $’000 

2016 

USD $’000 

Restricted cash 103,321 - 

Borrowings 100,000 - 

The year-end exchange rate used to recalculate the US$ dominated balances on 30 June 2017 was 

0.7692. Subsequent to year end the Group entered into an $ call option to minimise the foreign 

exchange risk exposure associated with the holding of US$ denominated restricted cash.  

 Group sensitivity  

Based on financial instruments held at 30 June 2017, had the Australian dollar strengthened/ 

weakened by 10% against the US dollar, with all other variables held constant, the Group’s loss for 

the year would have been $392,000 higher/$480,000 lower, as a result of foreign exchange gains/ 

losses on translation of US dollar denominated restricted cash and borrowings. 

b) Cash Flow Interest Rate Risk 

Interest rate risk arises from the Group’s cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash earning interest 

at variable rates. The significance and management of the risks to the Group are dependent on 

several factors including: 

• Interest rates; 

• Level of cash, liquid investments and borrowings and their term; and 

• Maturing dates of investments. 

On 21 June 2017, the Group completed settlement of a US$100 million senior secured bond facility. 

The bond has a fixed coupon rate of 12% per annum resulting in a nil sensitivity. 

At the end of the Reporting Period, the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk and effective weighted 

average interest rate for classes of financial assets and financial liabilities are set out below: 
 

 2017 

 Weighted average 

interest rate 

Balance 

$’000 

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 1.08% 221,570 
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The risk is managed by the Group by maintaining an appropriate mix between short-term and 

floating rate cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash. 

 Group sensitivity 

Based on the financial instruments at 30 June 2017, if interest rates had changed by +/-50 basis 

points from the year-end rates, with all other variables held constant, loss and equity for the year 

would have been $1,108,000 lower/$1,108,000 higher. 

6.1.5 Fair values 

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, other receivables, trade creditors, other 

creditors and accruals are considered to be a reasonable approximation of fair value.  

The fair value of the bond is equal to $130,005,000, being the carrying value of the bond excluding any 

capitalised borrowing costs. 

6.2 Related Parties 

6.2.1 Parent and ultimate controlling party 

The ultimate controlling party of the Group is Pilbara Minerals Limited. 

6.2.2 Key management personnel 

The following people were considered as key management personnel during the financial year:  
 

 Position Appointed Resigned 

Tony Leibowitz Non-executive Chairman 11 June 2013 1 July 2016 

Robert Adamson Non-executive Director 1 July 2010 21 February 2017 

Ken Brinsden Managing Director 18 January 2016  

Neil Biddle 
Executive Director 30 May 2013 19 August 2016 

Non-executive Director 20 August 2016 26 July 2017 

John Young 
Executive Director 4 September 2015 31 July 2017 

Non-Executive Director 1 August 2017  

Alan Boys Company Secretary and 

Alternate Director 

23 October 2014 31 August 2016 as Company 

Secretary and 23 September 2016 as 

Alternate Director 

Brian Lynn Chief Financial Officer 22 June 2016  

Anthony Kiernan Non-executive Chairman 1 July 2016  

Steve Scudamore Non-executive Director 18 July 2016  

Alex Eastwood Company Secretary and 

General Counsel 

1 September 2016  

Nicholas Cernotta Non-executive Director 6 February 2017  

Key management personnel compensation comprised the following: 
 

 

2017 

$ 

2016 

$ 

Short term employee benefits 1,406,570 1,305,176 

Post-employment benefits 93,944 11,021 

Share-based payments (non-cash) 7,381,211 13,238,684 

 8,881,725 14,554,881 
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Compensation of the Group’s key management personnel includes salaries, and contributions to a post-

employment defined contribution plan. Information regarding individual directors and executive’s 

compensation and some equity instruments are required to be disclosed by s300A of the Corporations 

Act and Corporations Regulations 2M.3.03 and are provided in the Remuneration Report section of the 

Directors’ Report. 

6.2.3 Transactions with key management personnel related parties 

During the year the Group transacted with related parties of key management personnel. 

Neil Biddle is a director and shareholder of the following related party entity which transacted with the 

Company during the year: 
 

Entity Services provided 2017 2016 

Hatched Creek Pty Ltd Director and corporate advisory services $123,791 $337,500 

Robert Adamson was a director and shareholder of the following related party entity which transacted 

with the Company during the year: 
 

Entity Services provided 2017 2016 

Robert G Adamson Consultants Director services $40,000 $56,000 

Alan Boys acted as Company Secretary and Alternate Director and is a shareholder of the following 

related party entity which transacted with the Company during the year: 
 

Entity Services provided 2017 2016 

Dubois Group Pty Ltd Accounting and secretarial services $38,000 $216,000 

All transactions with key management personnel related party entities were on commercial terms. 

6.3 Group Entities 

6.3.1 Parent entity 

Pilbara Minerals Limited. 

6.3.2 Significant subsidiaries 
 

 Country of incorporation 2017 2016 

Tabba Tabba Tantalum Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 

Sturt Resources Ltd Australia 100% 100% 

Sturt Resources PNG Ltd* Papua New Guinea - 100% 

Star 15 Limited* Papua New Guinea - 100% 

New Global Limited* Papua New Guinea - 100% 

Pilbara Lithium Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 

Pilgangoora Holdings Pty Ltd Australia 100% - 

Pilgangoora Operations Pty Ltd Australia 100% - 

* These companies were deregistered in February 2017. 
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6.4 Parent Entity Disclosures 

As at, and throughout the financial year ending 30 June 2017, the parent company of the Group was 

Pilbara Minerals Limited. 

 

2017 

$’000 

2016 

$’000 

Results of the parent entity   

Loss for the period (27,539) (55,697) 

Total comprehensive loss for the period (27,539) (55,697) 

Financial position of the parent entity at year end   

Current assets 93,999 100,796 

Total assets 204,333 101,393 

Current liabilities 11,308 3,058 

Total liabilities 5,841 3,058 

Total equity of the parent comprising of:   

Share capital 261,756 146,476 

Share-based payment reserve 32,501 21,799 

Accumulated losses (95,765) (69,940) 

Total equity 198,492 98,335 

6.5 Subsequent Events 

At the Company’s general meeting on 26 July 2017, shareholders approved Tranche 2 of the share 

placement as detailed in Note 5.1.1 (38,671,430 shares at an issue price of 35 cents per share). On 

2 August 2017, the Company received proceeds of $13,535,000 for Tranche 2 of the share placement 

and $15,322,038 for the Share Purchase Plan (43,777,251 shares at 35 cents per share). Associated 

transaction costs of $1,032,000 were paid on settlement. 

On 21 July 2017, the Company agreed to sell the processing plant assets associated with the Tabba 

Tabba Tantalum Project to Tungsten Mining NL. The Tabba Tabba Project was terminated during 

December 2016 and closure activities at site finalised by 30 June 2017. The carrying value of the assets 

at 30 June 2017 was $370,000. Upon settlement of the sale, the Company will receive consideration of 

$300,000 in cash and $300,000 in shares of Tungsten Mining NL.  

On 15 August 2017, the Company completed settlement of the Novo Litio Ltd (formerly Dakota Minerals 

Limited) Lynas Find tenement acquisition following the transfer of the four remaining tenements to 

Pilbara Minerals.  Total consideration of $3 million was paid via the issue of 7,577,671 shares at a share 

price of 39.59 cents. 

6.6 Auditor’s Remuneration 

The Directors resolved to appoint KPMG, as the interim auditor of the Group with their appointment 

confirmed at the Annual General Meeting held on 24 November 2016. 
 

 2017 

$ 

2016 

$ 

Audit services – KPMG 83,000 30,000 

Audit services – Somes Cooke - 10,000 

Advisory service – KPMG 7,455 - 

Total auditor’s remuneration – KPMG 90,455 30,000 

Total auditor’s remuneration – Somes Cooke - 10,000 
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6.7 Standards Issued but not yet Effective 

Many new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods beginning after 

1 July 2015 and earlier application is permitted; however, the Group has not early applied the following 

new or amended standards in preparing these consolidated financial statements. 
 

New or amended 

standards 
Summary of the requirements 

Possible impact on consolidated 

financial statements 

AASB 9 Financial 

Instruments 

AASB 9, published in July 2014, replaces the existing 

guidance in AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition 

and Measurement. AASB 9 includes revised guidance on the 

classification and measurement of financial instruments, a 

new expected credit loss model for calculating impairment 

on financial assets, and new general hedge accounting 

requirements. It also carries forward the guidance on 

recognition and de-recognition of financial instruments from 

AASB 139. 

AASB 9 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning 

on or after 1 January 2018, with early adoption permitted. 

The Group is assessing the potential 

impact on its consolidated financial 

statements resulting from the 

application of AASB 9. 

The revisions to the classification and 

measurement requirements and   

hedging changes are not currently 

expected to have a significant impact 

to the Group. Changes in relation to 

the expected credit loss model for 

calculating impairment on financial 

assets are not expected to have a 

material impact based on the short-

term nature of the Group’s assets. 

Moving forward the Group will 

continue to assess the impact of this 

standard as contracts are entered into 

for the Pilgangoora Development 

Project. 

AASB 15 

Revenue from 

Contracts with 

Customers 

AASB 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for 

determining whether, how much, and when revenue is 

recognised. It replaces existing revenue recognition 

guidance, including AASB 118 Revenue, AASB 111 

Construction contracts, and IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty 

Programmes. 

AASB 15 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning 

on or after 1 January 2018, with early adoption permitted. 

The Group is assessing the potential 

impact on its consolidated financial 

statements resulting from the 

application of AASB 15. The Group 

does not currently have any revenue 

so there will not be a material impact. 

As contracts are put in place and the 

project moves into development the 

Standard will continue to be 

monitored to assess the impact for 

the Group.  

AASB 16 Leases The key feature of AASB 16 (for lease accounting) are as 

follows: 

• Lessees are required to recognise assets and liabilities for 

all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the 

underlying asset is of low value. 

• A lessee measures right-of-use asset similarly to other 

non-financial assets and lease liabilities similar to other 

financial liabilities. 

• Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially 

measured on a present value basis. The measurement 

includes non-cancellable lease payments (including 

inflation-linked payments), and also includes payments to 

be made in optional periods if the lessee is reasonably 

certain to exercise an option to extend the lease, or not to 

exercise an option to terminate the lease. 

AASB 16 contains disclosure requirements for lessees. 

AASB 16 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning 

on 1 January 2019, with early adoption permitted. 

As at 30 June 2017 the Group has 

minimal operating leases to which this 

standard would impact. 

The Group will continue to assess the 

potential impact on its consolidated 

financial statements resulting from 

the application of AASB 16 as the 

contracts are in place for the 

Pilgangoora development project. 
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION 

 

1. In the opinion of the Directors of Pilbara Minerals Limited (“the Company”): 

(a) the consolidated financial statements and notes set out on pages 24 to 54 and the Remuneration 

Report contained within the Directors’ Report are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 

including: 

(i) complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory 

professional reporting requirements; and 

(ii) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2017 and 

of its performance for the financial year ended on that date; and 

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when 

they become due and payable. 

2. The Directors have been given the declarations by the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer 

required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the financial year ending 30 June 2017. 

 

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.  

 

 

 

_______________________________ 

Anthony Kiernan 

Director 

23rd August 2017 

 

 



 

 KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG 
network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG 
International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. 

 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under 
Professional Standards Legislation. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report  

To the shareholders of Pilbara Minerals Limited 

Report on the audit of the Financial Report 

 

Opinion 

We have audited the Financial Report of Pilbara 
Minerals Limited (the Company). 

In our opinion, the accompanying Financial 
Report of the Company is in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, including:  

• giving a true and fair view of the Group’s 
financial position as at 30 June 2017 and of 
its financial performance for the year ended 
on that date; and 

• complying with Australian Accounting 
Standards and the Corporations Regulations 
2001. 

The Financial Report comprises:  
• Consolidated statement of financial position as at 

30 June 2017 

• Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, Consolidated statement 
of changes in equity, and Consolidated statement 
of cash flows for the year then ended 

• Notes including a summary of significant 
accounting policies 

• Directors’ Declaration. 

The Group consists of the Company and the entities 
it controlled at the year-end or from time to time 
during the financial year. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the Financial Report section of our report.  

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical 
requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the Financial Report in Australia. We 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

Key Audit Matters 

The Key Audit Matter we identified was: 

• Acquisition of Mineral Rights 

Key Audit Matters are those matters that, in our 
professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the Financial Report of the current period.  

The matter was addressed in the context of our audit 
of the Financial Report as a whole, and in forming our 
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on the matter. 

  



 

Acquisition of Mineral Rights ($50 million) 

Refer to Note 3.2.1 to the Financial Report 

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 

Identification and measurement of assets acquired 
in the transaction with Mineral Resources Limited 
was considered to be a key audit matter due to: 

• the size of the transaction ($50 million); and 

• the judgement required in the application of 
AASB 2 Share-Based Payment (the standard). 

The Group performed a valuation of the Mineral 
Rights acquired in accordance with the standard. 
The significant judgements that we focused on 
included: 

• the rationale for capitalising (as opposed to 
expensing) the costs associated the 
extinguishment of a future royalty payable and 
the right of first refusal to purchase lithium 
products; 

• the assessment of the fair value of the Mineral 
Rights acquired; and 

• the fair value of the shares issued based on 
the terms of the transaction. 

To assess the significant judgements of this key 
audit matter, we involved senior audit team 
members, including share-based payment 
specialists. 

Our procedures included: 

• Evaluating the basis on which the extinguished 
royalty and right of first refusal is able to be 
capitalised as a Mineral Right in accordance with 
AASB 138 Intangible Assets. 

• Working with our share-based payment 
specialists, we challenged the valuation 
assumptions used in determining the fair value 
of the acquired Mineral Right. This included: 

• Evaluating whether the Mineral Right were 
reliably estimable, or whether the cost of 
the acquired Minerals Right should be based 
on the fair value of the shares issued as 
consideration. This included, critically 
assessing the Group’s assessment for 
determining a value for the Mineral Right 
utilising a discounted cash flow 
methodology. This was analysed with 
reference to definitive feasibility studies 
completed, ongoing studies for the 
expansion of the Pilgangoora project and the 
risks of the Pilgangoora project. 

• Analysing the underlying agreement to 
assess the Group’s assessment of the grant 
date and fair value of shares issued as 
consideration.  

 

Other Information 

Other Information is financial and non-financial information in Pilbara Minerals Limited’s annual reporting 
which is provided in addition to the Financial Report and the Auditor's Report. The Directors are 
responsible for the Other Information.  

The Other Information we obtained prior to the date of this Auditor’s Report was the Director’s Report. 
The Chairman’s Report, Managing Director’s Report, ASX additional information and other operational 
update reports are expected to be made available to us after the date of the Auditor’s Report, but prior to 
the issuance of Pilbara Minerals Limited’s Annual Report. 

Our opinion on the Financial Report does not cover the Other Information and, accordingly, we do not and 
will not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon, with the exception of the 
Remuneration Report and our related assurance opinion. 

In connection with our audit of the Financial Report, our responsibility is to read the Other Information. In 
doing so, we consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the Financial Report or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

We are required to report if we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other Information, 
and based on the work we have performed on the Other Information that we obtained prior to the date of 
this Auditor’s Report we have nothing to report.  
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Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

The Directors are responsible for: 

• preparing the Financial Report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 

• implementing necessary internal control to enable the preparation of a Financial Report that gives a 
true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 

• assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. This includes disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they either 
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report 

Our objective is: 

• to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Report as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and  

• to issue an Auditor’s Report that includes our opinion.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. They are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of this Financial Report. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report is located at the Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_files/ar2.pdf. This 
description forms part of our Auditor’s Report. 

Report on the Remuneration Report 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of 
Pilbara Minerals Limited for the year ended 30 
June 2017, complies with Section 300A of the 
Corporations Act 2001. 

Directors’ responsibilities 

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the 
preparation and presentation of the Remuneration 
Report in accordance with Section 300A of the 
Corporations Act 2001. 

Our responsibilities 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in 
the Directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 2017.  

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 

  

KPMG R Gambitta 
Partner 

Perth  

23 August 2017 
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